
COUNCIL

26 July 2018

To: The Mayor and Members of
WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL

SUMMONS TO A MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend an ORDINARY 
MEETING of the COUNCIL to be held in the Council 
Chamber, Civic Offices, Gloucester Square, Woking on 
THURSDAY, the TWENTY SIXTH DAY OF JULY 2018 at 
7.00 pm to transact the business specified in the agenda 
overleaf

RAY MORGAN
Chief Executive

Civic Offices,
Woking

NOTE:  Filming Council Meetings

Please note the meeting will be filmed and will be broadcast live and subsequently as an archive on the 
Council’s website (www.woking.gov.uk).  The images and sound recording will also be used for training 
purposes within the Council.  Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However by entering the 
meeting room and using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed.

Public Document Pack



2



3

AGENDA
1. MINUTES. 

To approve the minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 17 May and 21 May 2018, as 
published.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

3. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS. 

4. URGENT BUSINESS. 
To consider any business which the Chairman rules may be dealt with under Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary and other interests from Members and 
Officers in respect of any item to be considered at the meeting.

In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Leader of the Council, Councillor D J 
Bittleston, Councillor Mrs B A Hunwicks and Councillor C S Kemp will declare a non-
pecuniary interest in any items under which the Thameswey Group of Companies is 
discussed, arising from their positions as Directors of the Thameswey Group of Companies.  
The interest is such that speaking and voting are permissible.

In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor D J Bittleston will declare a 
non-pecuniary interest in any items under which the Victoria Square Development is 
discussed, arising from his position as a Director of Victoria Square Woking Limited.  The 
interest is such that speaking and voting are permissible.

In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor G S Cundy will declare a non-
pecuniary interest in any items under which the Brookwood Cemetery is discussed, arising 
from his position as a Director of Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited, Brookwood 
Park Limited and Brookwood Cemetery Limited.  The interest is such that speaking and 
voting are permissible.

In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, Deputy Chief 
Executive, Douglas Spinks, Strategic Director, Sue Barham, and Head of Democratic and 
Legal Services, Peter Bryant, will declare an interest in any items under which the 
Thameswey Group of Companies is discussed, arising from their positions as Directors of 
the Thameswey Group of Companies.  The interest is such that speaking is permissible.

In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, will declare 
an interest in any items under which the Victoria Square Development is discussed, arising 
from his position as a Director of Victoria Square Woking Limited.  The interest is such that 
speaking is permissible.

In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, and the 
Deputy Chief Executive, Douglas Spinks, will declare an interest in any items under which 
Export House is discussed, arising from their positions as Directors of Export House Limited.  
The interest is such that speaking is permissible.



4

In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Deputy Chief Executive, Douglas Spinks, 
and Head of Democratic and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, will declare an interest in any 
items under which Brookwood Cemetery is discussed, arising from their positions as 
Directors of Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited, Brookwood Park Limited and 
Brookwood Cemetery Limited.  The interest is such that speaking is permissible.

In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, and the Head 
of Democratic and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, will declare an interest in any items under 
which Dukes Court is discussed, arising from their positions as Directors of Dukes Court 
Owner T S a r l.  The interest is such that speaking is permissible.

6. QUESTIONS. 
To deal with written questions submitted by Members under Standing Order 8.1.  Copies of 
the questions and of the draft replies (which are subject to amendment by the Leader of the 
Council) will be laid upon the table.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES. (Pages 7 - 8)
To receive and consider recommendations from the Executive and the Standards and Audit 
Committee.

7a. Notice of Motion - Cllr A-M Barker - Tackling Plastics  
7b. Land Management - Westfield Avenue  
7c. External Audit Report to those Charged with Governance (ISA 260) 2017/18  

8. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2017/18. (Pages 9 - 158)

9. VOTER ID PILOT REVIEW. (Pages 159 - 194)

10. MEMBERSHIP OF THE APPEALS COMMITTEE. 
The Council is invited to appoint to the vacancy of the Appeals Committee following the 
decision of Councillor Bittleston to step down from the position.

11. NOTICES OF MOTION. 
To deal with any motions received in accordance with Standing Order 5.0.  Any motions 
received before the deadline has passed for the receipt of motions will be published and a 
copy of the list will be tabled at the meeting.

12. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC. 
The Mayor will move, and the Deputy Mayor will second:-

"That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of items 13 
and 14 in view of the nature of the proceedings that, if members of the press and public were 
present during these items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A, to the Local Government Act 1972.”

Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).



5

PART II – PRESS AND PUBLIC EXCLUDED

13. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE. (Pages 195 - 196)

13a.Land Management - Westfield Avenue  

14. VICTORIA SQUARE. (Pages 197 - 268)

AGENDA ENDS

Date Published - 18 July 2018

Note: At the close of the meeting the Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor Forster, would like to invite 
the following to join him in the parlour:-

The Deputy Mayor, Councillors Addison, Ali, Ashall, Barker, Bittleston, Bond, Cundy, Davis, 
Harlow, Hughes, Kemp, Lyons, Martin, Raja and Whitehand, Independent Co-opted 
Member Claire Storey and Independent Person Tim Stokes, together with Officers 
attending the meeting.





COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2018

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEE

Executive Summary

The Council is invited to consider the recommendations from the meetings of the Executive held on 
28 June 2018 and 12 July 2018 and the Standards and Audit Committee held on 19 July 2018.  
The recommendations as set out in the minutes of the Executive are set out below, together with 
an extract from the report to be considered by the Standards and .  

An item on Recommendations of the Executive has been included under Part II of this agenda to 
enable Members to discuss the details of the proposal.

EXECUTIVE – 28 JUNE 2018

A. NOTICE OF MOTION - CLLR A-M BARKER - TACKLING PLASTICS

At its meeting on 5 April 2018, the Council referred the following Notice of Motion to the 
Executive.

Councillor A-M Barker

“Tackling Plastics

Council is concerned that:

300 million tons of new plastic is made worldwide each year.

There is now a ratio of 1:2 plastic to plankton in our oceans.

Only 12% of plastic waste in the UK is reprocessed.

Council notes

There are many practical alternatives to plastics available for straws, cups and takeaway 
food containers that are either reusable or sustainable.

Freedom Leisure, our leisure facilities operator, has recently committed to reduce plastic and 
coffee cup waste.

Council commits to

Reduce as far as possible the use of disposable plastics in its offices and other facilities.

Work with local businesses to support them in reducing their use of disposable plastics.

Promote the use of reusable hot drinks cups to employees, contractors, business partners 
and local businesses.”

Councillor Barker attended the meeting and advised the Executive that the Motion had been 
intended to be submitted to Council in February 2018.  Councillor Barker acknowledged that 
the Motion was somewhat out of date and that the Council had undertaken much work to 
reduce plastic in its offices.  Councillor Barker commented that the Council needed to 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



Recommendation of the Executive and Committees

promote its work to reduce plastics.  The Leader advised that it was not possible for the 
Motion to be edited and that it would be dealt with at Full Council.

RECOMMENDED to Council

That the Motion be not supported as the action sought by it is already being taken.

EXECUTIVE – 12 JULY 2018

Set out below is the recommendation from the Executive in respective of a land management issue 
at Westfield Avenue.  The nature of the item is such that, if members of the press and public were 
present during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A, to the Local Government Act 1972.  Accordingly, the 
matter will be determined later on the agenda, under Part II, Press and Public excluded.

B. LAND MANAGEMENT – WESTFIELD AVENUE 

RECOMMENDED To Council

That the recommendations to Council set out in the confidential minute be 
agreed.

Reason: To implement the Decision of Council on 5 April 2018.

STANDARDS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE – 19 JULY 2018

Set out below is the recommendation to be considered by the Standards and Audit Committee at 
its meeting on 19 July 2018.  

C. EXTERNAL AUDIT REPORT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE (ISA 260) 
2017/18  

The Committee is requested to:

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That the Report To Those Charged with 
Governance (ISA 260) 2017/18 and the Management Representation 
letter be received.

The Council has the authority to determine the recommendations set out above.

Background Papers: None.
Reporting Person: Ray Morgan, Chief Executive

Email: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3333
Leigh Clarke, Financial Services Manager
Email: leigh.clarke@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3277

Contact Person: Frank Jeffrey, Democratic Services Manager
Email: frank.jeffrey@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3012

Date Published: 18 July 2018

REPORT ENDS

Page 8



COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2018

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2017-18

Executive Summary

Before Council tonight is the Statement of Accounts for 2017-18 together with the external auditor’s 
‘Report to those Charged with Governance (ISA 260) 2017-18’ and the Management 
Representation Letter, both of which will need to be taken into consideration in approving the 
Statement of Accounts.  

The ISA 260 Report and the Management Representation Letter will be considered by the 
Standards and Audit Committee on the 19th July 2018 in its role of overseeing governance and 
audit.  Draft minutes from the meeting of the Standards and Audit Committee will be available at 
the Council meeting and should be taken into consideration in approving the Statement of 
Accounts. 

The accounts for the 2017-18 financial year are presented for approval by the Council.  The ISA 
260 report is a good report and the auditor has indicated that they anticipate issuing an unqualified 
opinion by 31 July 2018 in accordance with the statutory timetable, 2 months earlier than the 30 
September deadline in previous years.  

In their report, the External Auditor draws attention to any matters of concern discovered during the 
audit, adjusted and unadjusted audit differences.  No recommendations have been raised as a 
result of the audit work this year, and the Auditor is satisfied that the Council has addressed those 
recommendations raised last year.  There was one presentational adjustment which was made to 
the supporting notes to the accounts.

The accounts of the Thameswey group of companies, the Brookwood Cemetery companies and 
the Dukes Court holding company, for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been consolidated 
into the Council’s Statement of Accounts to present the Council’s full group accounts.  The 
Company accounts have been approved by the appropriate Boards of the companies.

Following approval and receipt of the audit opinion, the final Statement of Accounts together with 
associated documents will be published on the Council’s website.

This is the last year that KPMG will complete the audit of the Council’s accounts.  From 2018-19 
the Council’s auditors will be Moore Stephens.

Recommendations

The Council is requested to:

RESOLVE That the Statement of accounts for 2017-18 be approved.

The Council has the authority to determine the recommendation set out above.

Background Papers: None.
Reporting Person: Leigh Clarke, Finance Director

Email: Leigh.Clarke@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3277 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Statement of Accounts 2017-18

Contact Person: Leigh Clarke, Finance Director
Email: Leigh.Clarke@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3277 

Date Published: 18 July 2018

REPORT ENDS

Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123





External Audit 
Report 2017/18

Woking Borough Council
—

July 2018

P
age 125



2

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contacts in connection w ith 
this report are:

Neil Hewitson
Director

Tel: 07909 991 009
neil.hewitson@kpmg.co.uk

Ali Azam
Manager

Tel: 07879 667 672
ali.azam@kpmg.co.uk

Content

Page

Important notice 3

1. Summary 4

2. Financial statements audit 6

3. Value for money conclusion 17

Appendices

1.  Recommendations follow ed up

2.  Materiality and reporting of audit differences

3.  Audit differences

4.  Audit independence

5.  Audit quality framew ork 

20

This report is addressed to Woking Borough Council (the Authority) and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member of staff 
acting in their individual capacities, or to third parties. PSAA issued a document entitled Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies summarising where the 
responsibilities of auditors begin and end and what is expected from audited bodies. We draw your attention to this document which is available on PSAA’s website 
(www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should 
contact Neil Hewitson, the engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact the national lead 
partner f or all of  KPMG’s work under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers (0207 694 8981, andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk). After this, if 
y ou are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 
020 7072 7445 or by  writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3H.

P
age 126



3

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

This report is presented in 
accordance w ith our PSAA 
engagement. The content of 
this report is based solely on 
the procedures necessary for 
our audit.  This report is 
addressed to Woking Borough 
Council (the Authority) and has 
been prepared for your use 
only.  We accept no 
responsibility tow ards any 
member of staff acting on their 
ow n, or to any third parties. 
The National Audit Off ice (NAO) 
has issued a document entitled 
Code of Audit Practice (the 
Code).  This summarises w here 
the responsibilities of auditors 
begin and end and w hat is 
expected from the Authority.  
External auditors do not act as 
a substitute for the Authority’s 
ow n responsibility for putting in 
place proper arrangements to 
ensure that public business is 
conducted in accordance w ith 
the law  and proper standards, 
and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly 
accounted for, and used 
economically, eff iciently and 
effectively.

Basis of preparation:  We have prepared this External Audit Report (Report) in accordance w ith our responsibilities under the National 
Audit Off ice Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and the terms of our Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) engagement.

Purpose of this report:  This Report is made to the Authority’s Standards and Audit Committee in order to communicate matters as 
required by International Audit Standards (ISAs) (UK and Ireland) and other matters coming to our attention during our audit w ork that w e 
consider might be of interest and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law  w e do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone (beyond that w hich w e may have as auditors) for this Report or for the opinions w e have formed in respect of this Report. 

Limitations on work performed:  This Report is separate from our audit opinion and does not provide an additional opinion on the 
Authority’s f inancial statements nor does it add to or extend or alter our duties and responsibilities as auditors.  We have not designed or 
performed procedures outside those required of us as auditors for the purpose of identifying or communicating any of the matters covered 
by this Report.  The matters reported are based on the know ledge gained as a result of being your auditors. We have not verif ied the 
accuracy or completeness of any such information other than in connection w ith and to the extent required for the purposes of our audit.

Status of our audit:  Our audit is not yet complete and matters communicated in this Report may change pending signature of our audit 
report. We w ill provide an oral update on the status of our audit at the Standards and Audit Committee meeting.  The follow ing w ork is 
ongoing:

— Pension assets; and

— WGA audit.

Important notice

P
age 127



4

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section One

Summary

Financial statements audit – see section 2 for further details

Subject to all outstanding queries and procedures being satisfactorily resolved w e intend to issue an unqualif ied audit opinion on the Group and Authority’s f inancial statements 
for the deadline of 31 July 2018, follow ing the Council adopting them and receipt of the management representations letter.      

We have completed our audit of the f inancial statements.  We have read the Narrative Report and review ed the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  Our key f indings are:

• There are no unadjusted audit differences. 

• We agreed presentational changes to the accounts w ith Finance, mainly related to compliance w ith the CIPFA / LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2017/18.

• We have not asked management to provide any management representations in addition to our routine requests.

• We review ed the narrative report and have no matters to raise w ith you.

• We did not receive any queries or objections from local electors this year.

We are now  in the completion stage of the audit and anticipate issuing our completion certif icate by 31 July 2018.  We intend to issue our 2017/18 Annual Audit Letter by 31 
July 2018.  

Value for money – see section 3 for further details

Based on the f indings of our w ork, w e have concluded that the Authority has adequate arrangements to secure economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We therefore anticipate issuing an unqualif ied value for money conclusion for the deadline of 31 July 2018. 

P
age 128



5

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section One

Summary

Other  matters

ISA 260 requires us to communicate to you by exception ‘audit matters of governance interest that arise from the audit of the financial statements’ w hich include:

• Signif icant diff iculties encountered during the audit;

• Signif icant matters arising from the audit that w ere discussed, or subject to correspondence w ith management;

• Other matters, if  arising from the audit that, in the auditor's professional judgment, are signif icant to the oversight of the f inancial reporting process; and

• Matters specif ically required by other auditing standards to be communicated to those charged w ith governance (e.g. signif icant deficiencies in internal control; issues 
relating to fraud, compliance w ith law s and regulations, subsequent events, non disclosure, related party, public interest reporting, questions / objections, opening balances, 
etc.).

We have a duty to consider w hether to issue a report in the public interest about something w e believe the Authority should consider, or if  the public should know  about.

We have not identif ied any matters that w ould require us to issue a public interest report. In addition, w e have not had to exercise any other audit pow ers under the Local Audit 
& Accountability Act 2014.

There are no other matters w hich w e w ish to draw  to your attention in addition to those highlighted in this report or our previous reports relating to the audit of the Authority’s 
2017/18 f inancial statements.

We are satisf ied that the Authority has addressed the recommendations raised in our ISA260 report in 2016/17.  We have made no new  recommendations in 2017/18. 

We undertake other grants and claims w ork for the Authority. The status of our grants and claim w ork is summarised below :

• We w ill complete the certif ication of Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts in September 2018; and

• We w ill complete the certif ication of Housing Benefits claim in October 2018.

The fees for this w ork is explained in section tw o.

P
age 129



6

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

We audit your f inancial statements by undertaking the follow ing:

We have completed the f irst six stages and report our key f indings below :

Accounts production stage

Work Performed Before During After

1. Business understanding: review  your operations   –

2. Controls: assess the control framew ork  – –

3. Prepared by Client Request (PBC): issue our prepared by client request  – –

4. Accounting standards: agree the impact of any new  accounting standards   –

5. Accounts production: review  the accounts production process   

6. Testing: test and confirm material or signif icant balances and disclosures –  

7. Representations and opinions: seek and provide representations before issuing our opinions   

Section Two

Financial statements audit

1.  Business 
understanding

In our 2017/18 audit plan w e assessed your operations to identify signif icant issues that might have a f inancial statements consequence.  We confirmed this 
risk assessment as part of our audit w ork.  We provide an update on each of the risks identif ied later in this section.

2.  Assessment of 
the control 
environment

We assessed the effectiveness of your key f inancial system controls that prevent and detect material fraud and error.  We found that the f inancial controls 
on w hich w e seek to place reliance are operating effectively. We review ed w ork undertaken by your internal auditors, in accordance w ith ISA 610 and used 
the f indings to inform our w ork.  We have chosen not to place reliance on their w ork due to the approach w e adopted for the f inancial statements audit.

3.  Prepared by
client request 
(PBC)

We produced the PBC to summarise the w orking papers and evidence w e ask you to collate as part of the preparation of the f inancial statements.  We 
discussed and tailored our request w ith the  Financial Services Manager and this w as issued as a f inal document to the f inance team. We are pleased to 
report that this has resulted in good-quality w orking papers w ith clear audit trails. 

P
age 130



7

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

4.  Accounts 
Production

We received complete draft accounts by 31 May 2018 in accordance w ith the deadline. The accounting policies, accounting estimates and f inancial 
statement disclosures are in line w ith the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

The Authority incorporated measures into its closedow n plan to manage this complex process.  The Authority recognised the additional pressures w hich 
the earlier closedow n brought and w e engaged w ith off icers in the period leading up to yearend to proactively address issues as they emerge. We 
consider that the overall process for the preparation of your f inancial statements is adequate We consider the Authority’s accounting practices to be 
appropriate.

We thank Finance for their cooperation throughout the visit w hich allow ed the audit to progress and complete w ithin the allocated timeframe. 

5. Testing We have summarised the f indings from our testing of signif icant risks and areas of judgement in the f inancial statements on the follow ing pages. During 
the audit w e identif ied only presentational issues w hich have been adjusted as they have no material effect on the f inancial statements.

6. Representations You are required to provide us w ith representations on specif ic matters such as your going concern assertion and w hether the transactions in the 
accounts are legal and unaffected by fraud.  We provided a draft of this representation letter to the Finance Director on 10 July 2017.  We draw  attention 
to the requirement in our representation letter for you to confirm to us that you have disclosed all relevant related parties to us.  

ISA 260 requires us to communicate to you by exception ‘audit matters of governance interest that arise from the audit of the financial statements’ w hich include:

— Signif icant diff iculties encountered during the audit;

— Signif icant matters arising from the audit that w ere discussed, or subject to correspondence w ith Management;

— Other matters, if  arising from the audit that, in the auditor's professional judgment, are signif icant to the oversight of the f inancial reporting process; and

— Matters specif ically required by other auditing standards to be communicated to those charged w ith governance (e.g. signif icant deficiencies in internal control; issues relating 
to fraud, compliance w ith law s and regulations, subsequent events, non disclosure, related party, opening balances, public interest reporting, questions/objections, etc.).

There are no other matters w hich w e w ish to draw  to your attention in addition to those highlighted in this report or our previous reports relating to the audit of the Authority’s 
2017/18 f inancial statements.  To ensure that w e provide a comprehensive summary of our w ork, w e have over the next pages set out:

• The results of the procedures w e performed over the Pension Liability, Valuation of Land and Building and Valuation of Investment Properties w hich w ere identif ied as 
signif icant risks w ithin our audit plan;

• The results of our procedures to review  the required risks of the fraudulent risk of revenue recognition (w hich w e have rebutted as part of our audit planning) and 
management override of control; and

• Our view  of the level of prudence applied to key balances in the f inancial statements.  

P
age 131



8

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

SIGNIFICANT audit risk Account balances effected Summary of findings

Valuation of land and 
buildings 

Council Dw ellings and Other 
Land and Buildings

CY: £444.8m

PY: £435.1m

The Code requires that w here assets are subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value should reflect the 
appropriate fair value at that date.  The Authority revalues all material properties on an annual basis and has 
adopted a rolling revaluation model for remaining immaterial items w hich sees all land and buildings revalued over a 
f ive year cycle.  As a result of this, how ever, individual assets may not be revalued for four years.  This creates a 
risk that the carrying value of those assets not revalued in year differs materially from the year end fair value.  The 
valuation is undertaken as at 31 December 2017 and then updated to 31 March 2018.

We review ed the approach that the Authority adopted to assess the risk that assets not subject to valuation w ere 
materially misstated and considered the robustness of that approach.

In relation to those assets w hich have been revalued during the year w e review ed the accounting entries made to 
record the results of the revaluation to ensure that they w ere appropriate.

We assessed the valuer’s qualif ications, objectivity and independence to carry out such valuations and review ed the 
methodology used (including testing the underlying data and assumptions).

We have set out our view  of the assumptions used in relation to accounting for Property, Plant & Equipment at page 
14.

No issues w ere identif ied as a result of our testing.

Authority significant audit risks

Those risks requiring specif ic audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of a material f inancial statement error in relation to the Authority.

P
age 132



9

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

SIGNIFICANT audit risk Account balances effected Summary of findings

Valuation of investment
properties

Investment Property

CY: £168.2m

PY £174.7m

The Code requires that w here assets are subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value should reflect the 
appropriate fair value at that date. The Authority exercises judgement in determining the fair value of these assets 
and the methods used to ensured the carrying values recorded each year reflect those fair values. There is an 
inherent risk that some investment property assets may not have been revalued each year. 

We assessed the Authority’s approach to investment property valuation and confirmed that it is in line w ith CIPFA 
Code requirements. 

We confirmed that all investment properties w ere subject to valuation at year-end and w e review ed the accounting 
entries made to record the results of the revaluation to ensure that they w ere appropriate.

We assessed the valuer’s qualif ications, objectivity and independence to carry out such valuations and review ed the 
methodology used (including testing the underlying data and assumptions).

We have set out our view  of the assumptions used in relation to accounting for Property, Plant & Equipment at page 
14.

No issues w ere identif ied as a result of our testing.

P
age 133



10

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

SIGNIFICANT audit risk Account balances effected Summary of findings

Pension liabilities Liabilities related to pension 
scheme

CY: £62.2m

PY: £62.0m

The net pension liability represents a material element of the Authority’s balance sheet. The Authority is an admitted 
body of Surrey Pension Fund, w hich had its last triennial valuation completed as at 31 March 2016. This forms an 
integral basis of the valuation as at 31 March 2018.

The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme relies on assumptions, most notably around the actuarial 
assumptions, and actuarial methodology w hich results in the Authority’s overall valuation. 

There are f inancial and demographic assumptions used in the calculation of the Authority’s valuation, such as the 
discount rate, inf lation rates, mortality rates etc. The assumptions should reflect the profile of the Authority’s 
employees and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis 
year to year, or updated to reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in the valuation of the Authority’s pension obligation are 
not reasonable. This could have a material impact to net pension liability accounted for in the f inancial statements.

As part of our w ork w e review ed the controls that the Authority has over information sent to the Scheme Actuary, 
including the Authority’s process and controls w ith respect to the assumptions used in the valuation. We evaluated 
the competency, objectivity and independence of Hyman Robertson. 

We review ed the appropriateness of the key assumptions included in the valuation and compared them to expected 
ranges. We review ed the methodology applied in the valuation by Hyman Robertson. 

In addition, w e review ed the overall Actuarial valuation and considered the disclosure implications in the f inancial 
statements. 

In order to determine w hether the net pension liability has been appropriately accounted for w e considered the 
valuation of pension assets.  As part of our audit of the Pension Fund w e gained assurance over the overall value of 
fund assets. We then liaised w ith the actuary to understand how  these assets are allocated across participating 
bodies and re-performed this allocation.

We have set out our view  of the assumptions used in relation to estimate pension liabilities at page 15.

No issues w ere identif ied as a result of our testing.

P
age 134



11

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

Authority other areas of audit focus

Those risks w ith less likelihood of giving rise to a material error but w hich are nevertheless w orthy of audit understanding.

Other areas of audit focus Account balances effected Summary of findings

Consolidation of subsidiary 
investments

Shareholding in companies

CY: £49.3m

PY: £30.7m

The Authority fully or partially ow ns eleven companies through one w holly ow ned subsidiary, Thamesw ey Limited. 
In addition to Thamesw ey Limited the Authority ow ns another subsidiary called Woking Necropolis and 
Mausoleum Ltd and has a 48% shareholding in Victoria Square Woking Limited. During 2017/18 the Authority 
acquired another company, Duke’s Court Ow ner TS.ar.l.  

 We liaised w ith the Thamesw ay Limited’s auditor and confirmed their professional qualif ication, experience and 
independence. We have issued them w ith group audit instructions to ensure that their audit is conducted to an 
acceptable level of scope and precision;

 We assessed the Authority’s impairment review ;

 We compared the accounting transactions betw een the subsidiaries and the Authority accounts and confirmed 
that inter-group transactions had been corrected adjusted; and 

 We tested the classif ication and accuracy of the investments in the Authority’s accounts and review ed the 
presentation of the consolidated group accounts.

No issues w ere identif ied as a result of our testing.

Faster close Pervasive Faster close represents a signif icant change to the timetable that the Authority has previously w orked to.  The time 
available to produce draft accounts has been reduced by one month and the time available to audit them has been 
reduced by tw o months compared to previous years.  

We liaised w ith off icers in preparation for our audit to understand the steps that the Authority w as taking to ensure 
it met the revised deadlines.  We advanced audit w ork into the interim visit to streamline the yearend audit w ork.

We received draft f inancial statements in line the statutory deadline of 31 May 2018.  The quality of this draft w as 
good and as a result few  adjustments w ere identif ied.

P
age 135



12

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

Risks that ISAs require us 
to assess in all cases Why Our findings from the audit

Fraud risk from revenue 
recognition

In our External Audit Plan 2017/18 w e reported that w e do not consider this to be a signif icant 
risk for Local Authorities as there is unlikely to be an incentive to fraudulently recognise 
revenue.

We have not conducted any specif ic procedures 
in relation to the risk of fraud from revenue 
recognition, as w e have rebutted this risk.

Fraud risk from 
management override of 
controls

Management is typically in a pow erful position to perpetrate fraud ow ing to its ability to 
manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent f inancial statements by overriding 
controls that otherw ise appear to be operating effectively.  Our audit methodology 
incorporates the risk of management override as a default signif icant risk. 

In line w ith our methodology, w e carry out appropriate controls testing and substantive 
procedures, including over journal entries, accounting estimates and signif icant transactions 
that are outside the normal course of business, or are otherw ise unusual.

We have not identif ied any specif ic additional risks of management override.

There are no matters arising from this w ork that 
w e need to bring to your attention.  

P
age 136



13

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Judgements in your financial statements

We consider the level of prudence in key judgements in your f inancial statements. We summarise our view  below  using the follow ing scale:

Section Two

Financial statements audit

Lev el of prudence

Cautious OptimisticBalancedAudit difference Audit difference

Acceptable range



Assessment of subjective areas

Asset / liability class Current 
year

Prior 
year

Balance 
(£m) KPMG comment

Provisions (including
NNDR provisions)

  £3.9m 
(PY:£1.4m) 

In 2013/14 changes to the local authority funding arrangements meant that the Authority is now  responsible for 
a proportion of successful rateable value appeals.  The Authority has provided for a f ixed percentage of 
outstanding appeals in accounting for the potential liability, based on historical appeals success rates.  We 
tested this and found that the Authority has made appropriate judgements in deriving and assessing the 
appeals percentage. The Authority has provided for an increase in appeals due to the level of building activity 
in the tow n centre.  We concluded that this is a balanced judgement. 

Accruals de minimis level   £1,000 
(PY:£1,000*) 

There has been no change in the minimum level of accruals. The £1,000 limit is not unreasonable for an 
organisation the size of Woking, and in line w ith w hat w e see at other councils. We therefore conclude this is a 
balanced judgement

* note these values are whole pounds, not millions.

Accruals and sundry
creditors

  £11.8m 

(PY £12.7m)

We performed substantive testing over a sample of accruals.  For each accrual w e found that there w as 
suff icient appropriate evidence to justify the accrued amount.  Where possible w e matched the accrual to the 
actual amount paid and found it to have been estimated reliably.  The movement in accruals is mainly 
attributable to a reduction in income received in advance and sundry deposits.

P
age 137



14

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

Assessment of subjective areas

Asset / liability class Current 
year

Prior 
year

Balance 
(£m) KPMG comment

PPE: HRA assets   £297m

(PY:£294m) 

The Authority continues its use of the beacon methodology in line w ith the DCLG’s Stock Valuation for Resource 
Accounting published in November 2016.  Beacon properties have been valued by Frazers chartered surveyors. 
The last Beacon valuation w as performed in 2015, w ith desk-top valuations performed since then. The next full  
Beacon valuation is due in 2020. Based on our assessment of the assumptions used in the desk-top valuation, we 
have concluded this is a balanced judgement.

PPE and investment 
property: Impairments

  £16.7m

(PY: £23.9m)

There w as an decrease in the value of impairments recognised in 2017/18.  The main contributor to the 
impairment w as a fall in value of the Albion Canopy, w hich is being redeveloped and has been w ritten dow n from 
it’s carrying amount of £4m to £NIL.

We assessed the valuations prepared by Wilks Head and Eve using our ow n valuation specialist. Our assessment 
is that WHE has used prudent assumptions about property prices and rental yields, w hich are tailored 
appropriately for the Surrey area.  We therefore conclude that this is a balanced estimate. 

Bad debt provision   £2.9m

(PY: £2.9m)

The provision for bad debts is unchanged in 17/18. The Authority has analysed the aging of its debtors, and 
compared it to historic debt collection rates. The provision is a reasonable reflection of these historic rates, so w e 
have concluded it is a balanced estimate.

Pension liability   £62m

(PY:£62m)

The pension scheme liability has remained unchanged. We performed detailed audit procedures over the pension 
liability.  This included agreeing the amounts disclosed back to the actuary's report, substantively testing the 
information provided to the actuary, and performing a review  of the key assumptions that affect the balance.  In 
addition, w e review ed the PWC report of the Local Government Pension Scheme, and communicated w ith Grant 
Thornton, the auditors responsible for the Surrey Pension Scheme.  We found that the assumptions w ere 
reasonable and the underlying data w as accurate.  We found that the assumptions applied by the Authority w ere 
in line w ith other Surrey Authorities, and w ith our ow n internal benchmarks.  We have therefore concluded this is 
a balanced assumption.

P
age 138



15

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Group audit

We liaised w ith the subsidiary auditor, Hamlyns for Thamesw ay Ltd and Pw C Luxembourg for Dukes Court Ow ner, and confirmed their professional qualif ications, experience 
and independence.  No issues w ere identif ied from this w ork.  We review ed the Authority’s impairment review , w hich did not identify any issues.  We compared the accounting 
betw een the subsidiary and the Authority accounts, w hich did not identify any issues.  We liaised w ith the subsidiary auditors to confirm w hether the accounts of the subsidiaries 
w ere materially accurate, both auditors have confirmed their accuracy. 

— Thamesw ey Ltd (including subsidiary companies), consolidated turnover £13,292k

— Dukes Court Ow ner T S.à r.l. turnover £4,303k

There are no specif ic matters to report pertaining to the group audit. There w ere no issues to note in relation to the consolidation process. 

Narrative report of the Authority 

We have review ed the Authority’s narrative report and its Annual Governance Statement and confirmed that they are consistent w ith the f inancial statements and our 
understanding of the Authority.  

Queries from local electors

We did not receive any questions or objections from members of the public this year. 

Section Two

Financial statements audit

P
age 139



16

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Audit certificate

To issue an audit certif icate w e are required to have completed all our responsibilities relating to the f inancial year.  We are not in a position to issue our audit certif icate 
alongside our audit opinion as HM Treasury has recently issued its guidance for completing the WGA and issued the consolidation packs that Authorities need to complete. We 
aim to complete the w ork by end of July 2018.  

We have not received any objections to the accounts from local electors, therefore w e expect to issue our audit certif icate in July 2018 follow ing completion of our WGA w ork.  

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

We are review ing your WGA consolidation pack.  We w ill provide an oral update on the status of our w ork at the Standards and Audit Committee meeting.

Other grants and claims work

We undertake other grants and claims w ork for the Authority that does not fall under the PSAA arrangements: w e w ill complete the certif ication of Pooling and Housing Capital 
Receipts in September 2018.

We undertake w ork for the Authority on its housing benefits grant claim that falls under the PSAA arrangements: w e w ill complete the certif ication of Housing Benefits claim in 
October 2018.  

Audit fees

Our fee for the audit w as £54,702 excluding VAT (£54,702 excluding VAT in 2016/17).  This fee w as in line w ith that highlighted in our audit plan approved by the Standards and 
Audit Committee in February 2018.

Our w ork on the certif ication of Housing Benefits (BEN01) is planned for October 2018.  The planned scale fee for this is £7,208 excluding VAT (£7,208 excluding VAT in 
2016/17).  Planned fees for other grants and claims w hich do not fall under the PSAA arrangements is £3,000 excluding VAT (£3,000 excluding VAT in 2016/17).

We have not completed any non-audit w ork at the Authority in year.

Section Two

Financial statements audit

P
age 140



17

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires auditors of local government bodies to be satisf ied that the authority ‘has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources’. 

This is supported by the Code of Audit Practice, published by the NAO in April 2015, w hich requires auditors to ‘take into account their know ledge of the relevant local sector as 
a w hole, and the audited body specif ically, to identify any risks that, in the auditor’s judgement, have the potential to cause the auditor to reach an inappropriate conclusion on 
the audited body’s arrangements.’

We follow  a risk based approach to target audit effort on the areas of greatest audit risk as summarised below :

We identif ied one signif icant VFM risks w hich is reported overleaf.  We are satisf ied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, eff iciency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2018, based upon the criteria of informed decision making, sustainable resource deployment and w orking w ith 
partners and third parties.  

Section Three

Value for money

Continually re-assess potential VFM risks

VFM audit risk 
assessment

Financial statements 
and other audit w ork

Identif ication of 
signif icant VFM 

risks (if  any)
Conclude on 

arrangements to 
secure VFM

No further w ork required

Assessment of w ork by other 
review  agencies

Specif ic local risk based w ork

V
FM

 conclusion

P
age 141



18

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Significant risk based VFM audit work 

Below  w e set out the detailed f indings of our signif icant risk based VFM w ork. This w ork w as completed to address the residual risks remaining after our assessment of the 
higher level controls in place to address the VFM risks identif ied in our planning and f inancial statements audit w ork.

Section Three

Value for money

Significant VFM risk Why this risk is significant Our audit response and findings

Financial resilience Local Authorities are subject to an increasingly challenged f inancial 
regime, w ith reduced funding from Central Government, w hilst having 
to maintain a statutory and quality level of services to local residents.

The Authority identif ied the need to make savings of £100,000 in 
2017/18 (2016/17 there w as no savings target). The year end 
performance monitoring show s that the Authority did not identify any 
specif ic savings against the £100,000 savings target in 
2017/18. How ever, there w ere underspends reported in key areas 
such as Orion Gate rental income, Civic Off ices, Homelessness 
support grant and Development management.

In total the Authority delivered an underspend in 2017/18 of £1,155k.

We review ed the overall management arrangements that the Authority has 
put in place for managing its f inancial position.  As part of our w ork w e
review ed:

• The process the Authority follow s to produce, challenge, approve and 
maintain its Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). We found that the 
MTFS had been w ell-prepared, and scrutinised by the Executive. This 
demonstrates good levels of challenge over the Authority’s planned 
savings targets. 

• The arrangements for ongoing and regular monitoring of the annual 
budget and how  the process is responsive to increasing costs of 
demand led services and changes in funding; and

• The governance arrangements in place including reporting to the 
Executive and the Council. 

• The annual pattern of reserves and borrow ing, noting how  these have 
changed over time and comparing them w ith the Authority’s borrow ing 
limit. 

• Key savings identif ied in the MTFS, along w ith review ing and assessing 
the key assumptions built into the anticipated future savings. 

Continues overleaf…

P
age 142



19

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Section Three

Value for money

Financial resilience 

As part of our w ork on f inancial resilience, w e have looked at historical borrow ing trends and reserve patterns over time:

We are seeing a trend of increased borrow ing at the Authority. The Authority is continuing to invest in infrastructure projects and long-term borrow ings have increased to 
£736M from £510M as at 31 March 2018.  Previously, most of this borrow ing w as used to f inance Investment Projects through the Thamesw ey Group. How ever, in 2017/18 
this is increasingly being used to f inance development projects run directly by the Authority and investment property acquisitions.  The borrow ing is 62.3% of the Authority’s 
authorised debt limit of £1.18BN.  The Authority has net assets of £236M and useable reserves of £89M.

No issues w ere identif ied from our testing.

P
age 143



20

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

We have follow ed up the recommendations from the prior year’s audit, in summary:

Appendix 1

Recommendations  

Total number of recommendations Number of recommendations implemented Number outstanding

4 4 0

# Risk Recommendation Management Response / Officer / Due Date Status at July 2018

1  Journal controls

The Authority does not have a number of the typical controls w e expect to 
see embedded into the journals process. We have provided management 
w ith a ‘best practice’ summary of the typical journal controls used by other 
organisations.

Whilst w e are satisf ied that there are mitigating controls in place that could 
detect a material misstatement in the f inancial statements, in light of the 
faster close timetable next year and current good practice, the Authority 
should consider how  it could improve the eff iciency and effectiveness of its 
journals control environment. This includes making use of automated 
controls w ithin the Integra accounting system.

Agreed

Access to journals is restricted to members of 
the Finance Team w hich minimises the risk of 
inappropriate journal entry. Mitigating controls 
are in place to identify errors. A management 
control report w ill be generated to identify back-
posted journals.

Ow ner: Financial Services Manager

Deadline: 31 December 2017

Implemented 

A management control report w as 
generated and supplied to the 
audit team near to the conclusion 
of the f inal accounts audit to 
identify any back-posted journals.

No issues arising as part of 
2017/18 audit.

2  Journals authorisation

One member of staff remained on the journals authorisation list w hen they 
should have been removed. This w as  due to one member of staff w ho w as 
temporarily seconded to the f inance team to assist w ith a busy period. They 
w ere correctly given journals privileges, but these w ere not removed w hen 
that person left the team. We review ed the journals list and found that no 
journals had been posted by that person in 2016/17, and they have now  
been removed from the approved list. 

We recommend that management frequently review  the access rights for 
posting journals.

Agreed

A management report of staff w ith access to 
journals w ill be review ed quarterly.

Ow ner: Financial Services Manager

Deadline: 31 December 2017

Implemented 

As part of the f inal accounts 
process a management report w as 
generated for review  of all staff 
w ho have entered journals in the 
2017/18.

No issues arising as part of 
2017/18 audit.

P
age 144



21

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 1

Recommendations

# Risk Recommendation Management Response / Officer / Due Date Status at July 2018

3  Faster close preparations

In preparation for the mandatory faster close timetable for 2017/18 onw ards, 
Finance could benefit from ensuring that the accounts timetable has 
suff icient time set aside for preparing and quality assuring its draft accounts 
and supporting w orking papers. This should help to ensure that the tighter 
deadlines are met next year. A detailed 2016/17 debrief should take place 
internally to identify lessons leant and potential eff iciencies for next year’s 
process, w hich w e w ould be happy to take part in.  

Agreed

The Finance Team w ill w ork w ith KPMG to 
prepare for 2017/18 accounts process.

Implemented 

No issues arising as part of 
2017/18 audit.

4  Timeliness of bank reconciliations 

We note one instance w here a reconciling item on the bank reconciliation 
w as not cleared in a timely manner. The reconciling item w as for 
£578,573.97 and w as made on 29 June 2016. This still appeared as a 
reconciling item on the December 2016 bank reconciliation. The item w as 
know n to Management, how ever, there w ere delays in matching the amount 
in the bank statement to the ledger to clear it from the bank reconciliation.

The effectiveness of this control is reduced if reconciling items are not 
cleared frequently, a point for w hich the relevance grow s as w e move 
tow ards the shorter close dow n period next year.

We recommend the Authority clears all reconciling items w ithin a 30 day 
period.

Agreed

A 30 day period w ill be adopted as a target for 
processing transactions onto the f inancial 
information system.

Implemented 

No issues arising as part of 
2017/18 audit.

P
age 145



22

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The assessment of w hat is material is a matter of professional judgment and includes consideration of three aspects: 

• Material errors by value are those w hich are simply of signif icant numerical size to distort the reader’s perception of the f inancial statements. Our assessment of the 
threshold for this depends upon the size of key f igures in the f inancial statements, as w ell as other factors such as the level of public interest in the f inancial statements;

• Errors w hich are material by nature may not be large in value, but may concern accounting disclosures of key importance and sensitivity, for example the salaries of senior 
staff; and

• Errors that are material by context are those that w ould alter key f igures in the f inancial statements from one result to another – for example, errors that change successful 
performance against a target to failure.

We used the same planning materiality reported in our External Audit Plan 2017/18, presented to you in February 2018.

Materiality for the Authority’s accounts w as set at £2.8 million w hich equates to around 1.9% of gross expenditure. 

Materiality for the Group accounts w as set at £3.0 million w hich equates to around 1.9% of gross assets.

We design our procedures to detect errors in specif ic accounts at a low er level of precision.

Reporting to Standards and Audit Committee 

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements w hich are material to our opinion on the f inancial statements as a w hole, w e nevertheless report to the 
Standards and Audit Committee any misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are identif ied by our audit w ork.  Under ISA 260, w e are obliged to report 
omissions or misstatements other than those w hich are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged w ith governance. ISA 260 defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly 
inconsequential, w hether taken individually or in aggregate and w hether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.  ISA 450 requires us to request that uncorrected 
misstatements are corrected.  

In the context of the Authority, w e propose that an individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if  it is less than £140k for the Authority and less than 
£150k million for the Group audit.

Where management have corrected material misstatements identif ied during the course of the audit, w e w ill consider w hether those corrections should be communicated to the 
Standards and Audit Committee to assist it in fulf illing its governance responsibilities.

Appendix 2

Materiality and reporting of audit differences 

P
age 146



23

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Unadjusted audit differences

Under UK auditing standards (ISA (UK&I) 260) w e are required to provide the Standards and Audit Committee w ith a summary of unadjusted audit differences (including 
disclosure misstatements) identif ied during the course of our audit, other than those w hich are ‘clearly trivial’, w hich are not reflected in the f inancial statements. In line w ith ISA 
(UK&I) 450 w e request that you correct uncorrected misstatements. How ever, they w ill have no effect on the opinion in our auditor’s report, individually or in aggregate. As 
communicated previously w ith the Standards and Audit Committee, details of all adjustments greater than £140K for Authority and £150k for Group audits are show n below .

There are no unadjusted audit differences.

Presentational adjustments

We identif ied presentational adjustments required to ensure that the Authority’s f inancial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018 are fully compliant w ith the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017-18 (‘the Code’).  Whilst the majority of these adjustments w ere not signif icant, w e identif ied one of a more 
signif icant nature – see the follow ing table.  It is our understanding that these w ill be adjusted. How ever, w e have not yet received a revised set of f inancial statements to confirm 
this.

Appendix 3

Audit differences

Presentational adjustments

# Basis of audit difference

1 Redundancy payments column of the Senior Off icer Pay disclosure note needs to be updated w ith the £65k redundancy formally paid in 2017/18.  This amount w as 
accrued and disclosed in the termination benefit note in 2016/17.  How ever these termination costs also need to be included in the Senior off icer’s pay disclosures. 

P
age 147



24

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

ASSESSMENT OF OUR OBJECTIVITY AND INDEPENDENCE AS AUDITOR OF WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL

Professional ethical standards require us to provide to you at the conclusion of the audit a w ritten disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit services) that 
bear on KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence, the threats to KPMG LLP’s independence that these create, any safeguards that have been put in place and w hy they 
address such threats, together w ith any other information necessary to enable KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence to be assessed. 

In considering issues of independence and objectivity w e consider relevant professional, regulatory and legal requirements and guidance, including the provisions of the Code of 
Audit Practice, the provisions of Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited’s (‘PSAA’s’) Terms of Appointment relating to independence, the requirements of the FRC Ethical 
Standard and the requirements of Auditor Guidance Note 1 - General Guidance Supporting Local Audit (AGN01) issued by the National Audit Off ice (‘NAO’) on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General.

This Statement is intended to comply w ith this requirement and facilitate a subsequent discussion w ith you on audit independence and addresses: general procedures to 
safeguard independence and objectivity; breaches of applicable ethical standards; independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit services; 
and independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters.

General procedures to safeguard independence and objectivity

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent.  As part of our ethics and independence policies, all KPMG LLP partners, Audit Directors and staff annually 
confirm their compliance w ith our ethics and independence policies and procedures. Our ethics and independence policies and procedures are fully consistent w ith the 
requirements of the FRC Ethical Standard.  As a result w e have underlying safeguards in place to maintain independence through: instilling professional values; 
communications; internal accountability; risk management; and independent review s. We are satisf ied that our general procedures support our independence and objectivity. 

Independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters  

There are no other matters that, in our professional judgment, bear on our independence w hich need to be disclosed to the Standards and Audit Committee.

Confirmation of audit independence

We confirm that as of the date of this report, in our professional judgment, KPMG LLP is independent w ithin the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and the 
objectivity of the Audit Director and audit staff is not impaired. 

This report is intended solely for the information of the Audit Committee of the authority and should not be used for any other purposes.

We w ould be very happy to discuss the matters identif ied above (or any other matters relating to our objectivity and independence) should you w ish to do so.

KPMG LLP

Appendix 4

Audit independence

P
age 148



25

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Audit quality framework
Appendix 5

Audit quality is at the core of everything w e do at KPMG and w e believe that it is not just about reaching the right opinion, but how  w e reach that opinion.  To ensure that every 
partner and employee concentrates on the fundamental skills and behaviours required to deliver an appropriate and independent opinion, w e have developed our global Audit 

Quality Framew ork

- Comprehensive effective monitoring processes
- Proactive identification of emerging risks and 

opportunities to improve quality and provide insights
- Obtain feedback from key stakeholders
- Evaluate and appropriately respond to feedback and 

findings Strateg
y

Interim 
fieldwor

k

Statutory 
reporting

Debrie
f

- Professional judgement and scepticism 
- Direction, supervision and review
- Ongoing mentoring and on the job coaching
- Critical assessment of audit evidence
- Appropriately supported and documented conclusions
- Relationships built on mutual respect
- Insightful, open and honest two way communications

- Technical training and support
- Accreditation and licensing 
- Access to specialist networks
- Consultation processes
- Business understanding and industry knowledge
- Capacity to deliver valued insights

- Select clients within risk tolerance
- Manage audit responses to risk
- Robust client and engagement acceptance and 

continuance processes
- Client portfolio management

- Recruitment, promotion, retention
- Development of core competencies, skil ls and 

personal qualities
- Recognition and reward for quality work
- Capacity and resource management 
- Assignment of team members and specialists 

- KPMG Audit and Risk Management Manuals
- Audit technology tools, templates and guidance
- Independence policies

Commitment to 
continuous 

improv ement–

Association 
with the right 

clients

Clear standards 
and robust audit 

tools

Recruitment, 
dev elopment and 

assignment of 
appropriately 

qualified personnel

Commitment 
to technical 
excellence 

and quality serv ice 
deliv ery

Performance of 
effectiv e and 

efficient audits

P
age 149



Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.
The KPMG name and logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International.

kpmg.com/socialmedia kpmg.com/app

P
age 150

http://kpmg.com/socialmedia
http://kpmg.com/socialmedia


Neil Hewitson
Director
KPMG
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL

Civic Offices
Gloucester Square

Woking
Surrey  GU21 6YL

Telephone (01483) 755855
Facsimile (01483) 768746

DX 2931 WOKING
Email wokbc@woking.gov.uk
Website www.woking.gov.uk

26 July 2018

Dear Neil

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 
Woking Borough Council (“the Authority”), for the year ended 31 March 2018, for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion:

i. as to whether these financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Authority and the Group as at 31 March 2018 and of the Authority’s and the Group’s 
expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

ii. whether the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2017/18. 

These financial statements comprise the Expenditure and Funding Analysis, the Authority and 
Group Movement in Reserves Statements, the Authority and Group Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statements, the Authority and Group Balance Sheets, the Authority and Group Cash 
Flow Statements, the Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement and the Collection Fund and the related 
notes (including the Expenditure and Funding Analysis). 

The Authority confirms that the representations it makes in this letter are in accordance with the 
definitions set out in the Appendix to this letter.

The Authority confirms that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as it 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing itself: 

Financial statements

1. The Authority has fulfilled its responsibilities, as set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015, for the preparation of financial statements that:

Page 151

mailto:wokbc@woking.gov.uk


i. give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority and the Group as at 31 
March 2018 and of the Authority’s and the Group’s expenditure and income for the year 
then ended;

ii. have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

2. Measurement methods and significant assumptions used by the Authority in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

3. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which IAS 10 Events after 
the reporting period requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

4. There are no unadjusted audit differences.

Information provided

5. The Authority has provided you with:

 access to all information of which it is aware, that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters; 

 additional information that you have requested from the Authority for the purpose of the 
audit; and

 unrestricted access to persons within the Authority and the Group from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

6. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements.

7. The Authority confirms the following:

The Authority has disclosed to you the results of its assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

Included in the Appendix to this letter are the definitions of fraud, including misstatements 
arising from fraudulent financial reporting and from misappropriation of assets.

8. The Authority has disclosed to you all information in relation to:

a) Fraud or suspected fraud that it is aware of and that affects the Authority and the Group 
and involves: 

 management;
 employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
 others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements; 

and

b) allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Authority’s and Group’s financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or 
others.

Page 152



In respect of the above, the Authority acknowledges its responsibility for such internal control as 
it determines necessary for the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In particular, the Authority acknowledges its 
responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error. 

9. The Authority has disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the 
financial statements. 

10. The Authority has disclosed to you and has appropriately accounted for and/or disclosed in the 
financial statements, in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements. 

11. The Authority has disclosed to you the identity of the Authority’s and the Group’s related parties 
and all the related party relationships and transactions of which it is aware.  All related party 
relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Included in the Apendix to this letter are the definitions of both a related party and a related party 
transaction as we understand them as defined in IAS 24 and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.  

12. The Authority confirms that: 

a) The financial statements disclose all of the key risk factors, assumptions made and 
uncertainties surrounding the Authority’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern as required to provide a true and fair view.

b) Any uncertainties disclosed are not considered to be material and therefore do not cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Authority and the Group to continue as a going 
concern.

13. On the basis of the process established by the Authority and having made appropriate enquiries, 
the Authority is satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of defined 
benefit obligations are consistent with its knowledge of the business and are in accordance with 
the requirements of IAS 19 (Revised) Employee Benefits.

The Authority further confirms that:

a) all significant retirement benefits, including any arrangements that are:

 statutory, contractual or implicit in the employer's actions;
 arise in the UK and the Republic of Ireland or overseas;
 funded or unfunded; and
 approved or unapproved, 

have been identified and properly accounted for; and

b) all plan amendments, curtailments and settlements have been identified and properly 
accounted for.

Page 153



This letter was tabled and agreed at the meeting of the Standards and Audit Committee on 19 
July 2018, and Council on 26 July 2018.

Yours faithfully,
  

Leigh Clarke
Finance Director

      For further information please contact Leigh Clarke on 01483 743277 (Direct Line) or 
      Email Leigh.Clarke@woking.gov.uk

Page 154

mailto:Leigh.Clarke@woking.gov.uk


Appendix to the Authority Representation Letter of Woking Borough Counil: Definitions

Financial Statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

 A Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the period;

 A Balance Sheet as at the end of the period;

 A Movement in Reserves Statement for the period;

 A Cash Flow Statement for the period; and

 Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information and the Expenduture and Funding Analysis.

A local authority is required to present group accounts in addition to its single entity accounts where 
required by chapter nine of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2017/18. 

A housing authority must present:

 a HRA Income and Expenditure Statement; and

 a Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement.

A billing authority must present a Collection Fund Statement for the period showing amounts 
required by statute to be debited and credited to the Collection Fund. 

A penson fund administering authority must prepare Pension Fund accounts in accordance with 
Chapter 6.5 of the Code of Practice. 

An entity may use titles for the statements other than those used in IAS 1. For example, an entity 
may use the title 'statement of comprehensive income' instead of 'statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income'. 

Material Matters

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.

IAS 1.7 and IAS 8.5 state that:

“Material omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or 
collectively, influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial 
statements.  Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omission or misstatement 
judged in the surrounding circumstances.  The size or nature of the item, or a combination of 
both, could be the determining factor.”

Page 155



Fraud

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users.

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets.  It is often accompanied by false 
or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have 
been pledged without proper authorisation.

Error

An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure.

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s financial statements for 
one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that:

a) was available when financial statements for those periods were authorised for issue; and
b) could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the 

preparation and presentation of those financial statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting policies, 
oversights or misinterpretations of facts, and fraud.

Management

For the purposes of this letter, references to “management” should be read as “management and, 
where appropriate, those charged with governance”.  

Related Party and Related Party Transaction

Related party:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).

a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person:

i. has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 
ii. has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 
iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 

the reporting entity.
b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

i. The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity.
v. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity is itself 
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.

Page 156



vi. The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
vii. A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 

the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
viii. The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Key management personnel in a local authority context are all chief officers (or equivalent), elected 
members, the chief executive of the authority and other persons having the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the authority, including the 
oversight of these activities.

A reporting entity is exempt from the disclosure requirements of IAS 24.18 in relation to related party 
transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, with:

a) a government that has control, joint control or significant influence over the reporting entity; 
and

b) another entity that is a related party because the same government has control, joint control 
or significant influence over both the reporting entity and the other entity.

Related party transaction:

A transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Page 157





COUNCIL – 26 JULY 2018

VOTER ID PILOT REVIEW

Executive Summary

On the 3 May 2018 Woking took part in a pilot to trial voter ID in polling stations.  All electors who 
voted in the elections were required to bring one of a specified list of photographic ID.

The attached report at Appendix 1 sets out the work undertaken as part of the preparations for the 
elections, including the media campaign to promote the pilot.  The Elections and Electoral 
Registration Review Panel considered the report at their meeting on 5 July 2018 and a copy of the  
minutes is attached at Appendix 2.

The electorate’s response to the pilot was very positive, with over 99% of voters bringing the 
correct ID the first time when they attended the polling station.  Photo ID driving licences were the 
most popular form of ID shown, with passports and Surrey Senior bus passes also being popular.  
There was positive feedback from the running of polling stations, where in most cases there was 
limited impact on the usual voting process.  63 Local Elector Cards were issued, 43 of which were 
used on polling day.

Additionally, as a result of the comprehensive communications campaign to promote the pilot, and 
working in partnership with the York Road Project, ten applications to register to vote were 
received from homeless members of the community, a group who have historically been 
underrepresented on the electoral register.  Furthermore, these electors also completed 
applications for Local Elector Cards, a form of photographic ID which will enable them to access 
services in future.  The Electoral Registration Officer has indicated that Local Elector Cards will 
continue to be issued to electors on request, to assist in particular those electors who do not have 
access to another form of photographic ID.

Looking to the future, the Cabinet Office has indicated that, based on the data from each Returning 
Officer, they would like to have further pilots in 2019, to refine the systems tested in 2018, to 
provide additional evidence and experience for national roll out.  As such, the Cabinet Office has 
invited expressions of interest from local authorities wishing to pilot voter ID in May 2019.  This is 
without prejudice to the Electoral Commission’s evaluation which will be published in July this year.  

In view of the positive outcome of the pilot locally on 3 May 2018, the Returning Officer is keen to 
participate in the next set of pilots.  Officers have identified areas where improvements to 
processes could be made to build on the pilot success, and further areas were highlighted by 
members of the Elections and Electoral Registration Review Panel.

The key changes proposed are:

Administrative amendments

 Revising the Local Elector Card (LEC) application form, including the attestation form.
 Enabling applications for LECs to be completed online, with a facility for uploading copies of 

photos and documents.
 Further training for staff across the Council on the application process for Local Elector 

Card
 Strengthening the communications plan in the following areas

 Targeting women in the 50-60 age category
 Targeting electors with lower levels of literacy

Page 159

Agenda Item 9



Voter ID Pilot Review

 Targeting local employers with large percentage of low-medium income employees, 
to support registration/local elector card applications

Amendments to Pilot Order

 Blue Badges to be added to the list of photographic ID
 Rail season ticket photocards to be removed from the list of photographic ID
 Further IDs for inclusion to be reviewed (e.g. taxi licence, student card, military pass)
 Supporting documentation requirements for the Local Elector Card to be reviewed.

With these improvements incorporated into pilot process, the existing scheme trialled in 2018 
would be strengthened, and Council approval is sought to participate in further pilots in 2019.

Recommendations

The Council is requested to:

RESOLVE That       

(i) outcome of the 2018 voter ID pilot be noted; and

(ii) the Council participate in the Voter ID pilot in May 2019.

The Council has the authority to determine the recommendations set out above.

Background Papers: None.

Reporting Person: Ray Morgan, Chief Executive and Returning Officer
Email: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3333 

Contact Person: Name, Charlotte Griffiths, Electoral Services Manager
Email: charlotte.griffiths@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3215 

Date Published: 18 July 2018

REPORT ENDS

Page 160



Appendix 1

Voter ID Pilot Review

3 May 2018
1.0 Background

1.1 The Government’s manifesto in 2017 committed to introducing identification in polling 
stations, following the publication of Sir Eric Pickles’ review of electoral fraud in the UK.

1.2 The Cabinet Office offered all local authorities in Great Britain the opportunity to pilot voter 
identification in their May 2018 local elections to enable the Cabinet Office to identify the 
best way to implement voter ID nationally. There were five pilot authorities, including 
Woking, which trialled different ID schemes (both photographic and non-photographic). 
The individual ID schemes were drawn up by local authorities, working collaboratively with 
the Cabinet Office, Electoral Commission and Association of Electoral Administrators, who 
provided expert support and scrutiny as the pilots were developed.  The other pilot 
authorities were: Bromley, Gosport, Swindon and Watford.  Two postal vote pilots were 
also run.

1.3 The Council agreed at its meeting on 20 July to support an application to participate in the 
Cabinet Office’s pilots to trial ID in polling stations at the May 2018 elections.  On 28 
September, the Council considered a report setting out Woking’s ID pilot proposal and 
agreed to proceed with the pilot.  The scheme was based the requirements in Northern 
Ireland, where all voters must provide photographic ID.  The proposed scheme required all 
electors voting in person at a polling station or acting as a proxy for another elector to 
show one form of agreed photo ID before being issued with a ballot paper.  If no permitted 
photo ID could be presented, the electors would not be issued a ballot paper and be 
unable to vote.

1.4 Following suggestions from members of the Elections and Electoral Registration Review 
Panel, the suggested ID list presented to Council was expanded to include rail season 
ticket photocards and 16-25 year olds photo railcards, as Councillors considered that 
these additions would be helpful for electors.  Council agreed the scheme proposed, with 
the amendments to the acceptable ID list, and the Cabinet Office was notified accordingly.

1.5 The list was further expanded to include three types of ID at the request of the Electoral 
Commission and Cabinet Office (European Economic Area photo ID cards, UK Biometric 
Residence Permits and Northern Ireland Electoral Identity Card.)  Therefore the final list of 
ID to be accepted in the polling stations was:

 Passport – UK and Crown Dependency, EU and Commonwealth
 Photo Driving Licence -  UK and Crown Dependency, EU
 EEA Photographic Identity Card
 UK Biometric Residence Permit
 Northern Ireland Electoral Identity Card
 Surrey Senior Bus Pass
 Disabled People’s Bus Pass
 Surrey Student Fare Card
 16-25 Railcard
 Rail Season Ticket Photocard
 Local Elector Card

Page 161



1.6 The ID required and the processes for administering the pilot in the polling station were 
set out in the Woking Borough Council (Identification in Polling Stations) Pilot Order 2018.  
The Order was drafted in consultation with Officers and the Electoral Commission, and the  
final Order was signed by the Minister for the Constitution on 14 January 2018, which 
enabled the pilot to run on 3 May 2018.

2.0 Planning and Engagement

2.1 From August 2017 onwards, Officers worked closely with the Cabinet Office (CO) and the 
Electoral Commission (EC) to finalise the arrangements for the pilot.  

2.2 Officers attended meetings of the Cabinet Office Pilot and Reference Group (PRG) on a 
monthly basis from August 2017 to February 2018.  There were also additional meetings 
with the pilot authorities, as well as individual meetings with officers from WBC to 
scrutinise the proposals and detailed plans for the pilot. 

2.3 Additionally, fortnightly telephone conference calls were held to discuss the 
communications plans, which were held every week in the run up to polling day.

2.4 Several plans were put in place, to ensure different elements of the pilot could be 
monitored.  A detailed project plan, the integrity plan and risk register for the election was 
strengthened to reflect the additional risks associated with the pilot, particularly with 
regard to the Local Elector Cards, and communicating the correct ID that electors were 
required to bring.

2.5 The training plan for polling station staff was also expanded to ensure all the requirements 
for the pilot were included and that staff would be confident in the processes to be 
followed in the polling station.

2.6 Officers drafted an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) for the pilot, identifying groups 
who could be affected by the ID pilot and what action should be taken to minimise the 
impact on electors in these groups.  A copy of the final EIA is set out at Appendix A. The 
EIA was circulated to PRG colleagues at the Electoral Commission, who provided 
valuable feedback to strengthen the EIA.  

2.7 On 25 January 2018, Officers attended a panel interview at the Cabinet Office. The aim of 
this exercise was to assure all involved in the delivery of the pilot of the quality of Officer’s 
preparations, as well as challenging the plans to highlight further risks and mitigations.  
The panel’s main focus was to review key elements of the pilot plans: the Equalities 
Impact Assessment, the pilot risk assessment, staff training plan and media strategy.  This 
interview went very well, and the panel commended the approach Officers had taken 
towards project planning and risk management.

2.8 On 8 March 2018, the Returning Officer, the Leader of the Council, the Chair of the 
Elections and Electoral Registration Review Panel, the Electoral Services Manager and 
the Electoral Services Officer met with the Minister for the Constitution to discuss the ID 
plans.

3.0 ID Checking Process

3.1 The provision of photo ID applied to all electors voting in person at the polling station, both 
electors and proxies.  In the case of proxies, they would be required to bring their own ID, 
not ID for the voter on whose behalf the proxy was voting.

Page 162



3.2 The process to be followed in the polling station was amended to add the ID checking 
stage.  The stages to be followed are set out below:

1. Electors hand over their ID to polling station staff; [the ID is not checked at this 
stage]

2. Electors confirm their name and address [this is normal practice in the polling 
station; even where electors bring their poll card, they are still required to state their 
name and address]

3. Staff check the register and confirm that the elector is eligible to be issued with a 
ballot paper

4. Elector’s ID is checked to verify their identity.

5. Staff issue the ballot paper to the elector, marking the register, the data collection 
form and the Corresponding Numbers List with the elector’s elector number.

3.3 The checking of the ID after confirmation of the elector’s name and address was planned 
as an extra measure against personation, as the elector would not be able to read out the 
details of the elector on the ID provided.  

3.4 Where there were queries regarding the ID provided, poll clerks were instructed to refer 
the elector to the Presiding Officer (PO), who would discuss the situation with the elector 
and decide whether a ballot paper could be issued.

3.5 In line with the ID requirements already in place in Northern Ireland, it was specified that 
out of date/expired documents could be used, as long as the photo on the ID was still of a 
good likeness.  However, digital images would not be accepted; the original document had 
to be produced in the polling station.

3.6 Where electors forgot to bring their ID, or brought incorrect ID, this would be recorded in 
the polling station.  Electors would be able to return later in the day with the correct ID; 
they would not be prohibited from re-entering the polling station.  In such instances, 
electors were given a card setting out the permitted forms ID, to ensure they returned with 
the correct form of ID.

3.7 With the requirement to check an elector’s identity, provision was required for electors 
who may need to have their ID checked in private rather than in public in the polling 
station e.g. female electors who wear a niqab.  Additionally there could have been 
circumstances when an elector needed to explain differences between their official ID and 
how they present at the polling station e.g.transgender electors.  As such, a private area 
within the polling station was required.  Rather than using a separate room in the polling 
place, screens were used within the polling station, to create a private area where ID 
could be checked, without a significant delay to the voting process.  A mirror was also 
provided to enable the elector to re-adjust their niqab/covering, following the identity 
check, if required.

3.8 The list of acceptable IDs was varied and examples were given to polling station staff at 
training and in the polling station.  Working the colleagues at the CO and EC, it was clear 
that a practical approach to checking ID in polling stations would be needed.  Having been 
advised by the CO that examples of all passports from Commonwealth and EU countries 
were not available to be distributed to polling station staff, it was clear that polling station 
staff would have to work on a ‘face-value’ approach to unfamiliar documents (e.g. 

Page 163



passports from commonwealth countries) and unless there were clear suspicions of a 
document being fraudulent, would have to accept the document.  

3.9 Where poll clerks referred queries to the PO, POs were instructed to be ‘reasonable’ in 
their dealings with electors whose ID had been queried.  Where there was a name 
discrepancy, POs were advised to discuss the discrepancy with the elector to determine 
the reason for the difference. In such situations, the POs were advised that they had to be 
satisfied with the explanation before issuing a ballot paper.

3.10 Guidance for staff was circulated giving suggestions on what action to take in a variety of 
circumstances, depending on the type of query.  In some cases, for example, where 
electors had changed their name, perhaps due to marriage, electors were able to provide 
additional ID, e.g. bank cards/marriage certificate, if they so wished.  Whilst not on the 
official list of ID, these other forms of ID could be used to confirm the veracity of the 
elector’s explanation.  There was no requirement to ask for additional, supporting 
evidence, nor could electors be forced to provide it, but if the elector offered it, this could 
be used.  

3.11 POs were also able to contact Electoral Services, to check the details against the 
Electoral Register, which has name change details and other records which POs, do not 
have access to in the polling station.

4.0 Data Collection

4.1 As part of the evaluation of the pilot, staff at polling stations were required to record what 
forms of ID were presented at polling stations.  Staff were required to mark when the 
elector had been issued with a ballot paper, as normal, and also mark what type of ID was 
provided.  To track the journey of an elector bringing ID, staff were also required to mark 
where an elector brought no ID or incorrect ID, to trace how many of these electors later 
returned with the correct ID.  

4.2 Staff were also required to mark how many queries were referred to the PO (instances 
where there was an issue/query about the ID provided).  These instances did not 
necessarily mean that the elector would be refused a ballot paper, but that there was not a 
straight match between the ID details and the electoral register details.

4.3 Officers developed a data collection form to record what ID was provided.  To limit the 
scope for recording error, Officers suggested the use of an adapted version of the 
electoral register.  Next to the register details, a grid was printed to mark the ID provided 
by each elector.  This grid was separated from the register after polling day, as this would 
not form part of the official Marked Register.  

4.4 Working with Xpress, the Elections Management System supplier, the polling station 
registers were adapted to incorporate the data collection form.  Rather than use A3 
versions of the register in the polling station, which were considered too unwieldy, Officers 
opted to use an A4 version.  As a result, the registers for the polling stations were much 
larger than in previous years.  However this was considered the best approach for the 
collection of accurate data rather than having a separate form for staff to complete.

4.5 At times it took longer to find electors on the register and polling station staff had concerns 
that this could cause significant delays at a parliamentary election.  As the data collection 
form was only required as this was pilot, if the provision of ID became mandatory in the 
polling station, there would not be a need for a data collection form, and subsequently the 
registers would be printed in their usual, more manageable, format.

Page 164



4.6 After the election, the ID data from the polling stations was collated.  Unfortunately there 
were 65 instances of recording errors on the data collection forms.  If the pilot is run again, 
this will be emphasised in staff training, to reduce the risk of it occurring again.

5.0 Local Elector Card

5.1 Where electors did not have one form of the specified ID, they would be able to obtain a 
Local Elector Card (LEC) from the Returning Officer.  This would be locally produced 
photographic ID, which the elector would have to show at the polling station.

5.2 The proposals for the LEC were discussed at length to ensure that the process could be 
accessible, whilst still having a level of rigor at the application stage to reduce the risk of 
fraudulent applications.  The supporting documents required for the LEC initially mirrored 
those required for electoral registration applications; this requirement was amended at the 
request of Councillors tor reduce the number of documents required.  However, it was still 
agreed that supporting documents would needed to be provided to link the elector to the 
property as well as confirm the identity of the elector.  Details of all the supporting 
evidence required was included on the LEC application form.  

5.3 Where an elector did not have any supporting documents to accompany the LEC 
application, an attestation could be completed by another registered elector in the 
Borough.  Again, this process is in line with the requirements for registration.  Electors 
were directed to contact Electoral Services in these circumstances so that officers could 
advise electors on the best action to get their elector card.  As such, when drafting the 
LEC application form, the attestation form was not included to keep the application form 
as simple as possible.  

5.4 Electors were also required to provide a witnessed photo, confirming their likeness, similar 
to the process required for passports.  Although a list of suitable people able to do this 
was attached the application form, this was not an exhaustive list, and other people could 
witness the photo.  Although this information was included on the application form, this 
element of the LEC process would be reviewed in future. 

5.5 Hard copies of photos were not required and the Electoral Services team were able to 
take photos of electors if requested at the Civic Offices.  Where the Electoral Services 
team took photos at the Civic Offices, hard copies where given to the electors to be 
witnessed, and the digital image used to create the LEC once the completed application 
had been received.  Photos were also taken at the roadshows in the Borough, and copies 
sent to the electors for witnessing.

5.6 LEC application forms were offered and supplied to political parties, to pass on to electors 
they identified when canvassing who informed canvassers that they did not have any of 
the required ID.  These were made available following the Candidates and Agents briefing 
in March 2018.  Electronic copies could also be downloaded from the WBC website.  
Candidates and Agents were also asked to pass details of electors who required 
additional assistance to obtain a LEC to Electoral Services so that this could be followed 
up prior to the election.

5.7 Electors were able to submit applications electronically, with copies of the supporting 
documents.  Photos could be sent electronically also, provided that the person confirming 
the elector’s identity submitted the photo, rather than coming directly from the elector.

5.8 The deadline for applications for LEC was 5pm, Wednesday, 2 May 2018.  It was agreed 
that the day before polling day would provide electors, including newly registered electors, 
sufficient time to apply for the card.  From a risk management perspective, there was the 

Page 165



possibility that many electors would wait until the 2 May to apply.  To ensure there would 
be capacity to deal with a late rush of applications, two card printers were purchased, all 
applications were processed on the day of receipt so that there was no backlog of 
applications, and all staff were trained on the issuing process.  In the event, there were 
only four applications received on 2 May, which were processed and issued before the 
deadline.  

5.9 Analysis of the website visitor statistics show that between 1 February and 2 May there 
were 752 visits to the LEC information webpage, and 630 visits to the LEC application 
form webpage.  No data is available on how many applications were subsequently 
downloaded for completion.  

5.10 Copies of LECs were provided at the polling stations, in case electors lost/forgot their LEC 
when they attended the polling station.  These were destroyed following the election.

5.11 In total, 63 local elector cards were issued.  Six photos were taken by Electoral Services 
for whom a completed application was not received.  Additionally, one completed 
application for a LEC was received from a registered postal voter.  The elector confirmed 
that they still required a postal vote for the election, and as such the LEC was not issued.

5.12 Of the 63 LECs issued, twelve applications were supported with an attestation, as the 
elector did not have the necessary supporting documents.  The remaining applications 
were submitted with the required supporting documents.  All applications were 
accompanied with a suitable witnessed photograph.

5.13 The timescales for the applications is set out below.  

LECs issuedWeek No. Date
No. %

No. of LECs 
applications declined

Week 1 5 February 2018 0 0 0
Week 2 12 February 2018 0 0 0
Week 3 19 February 2018 0 0 1*
Week 4 26 February 2018 7 11 0
Week 5 5 March 2018 4 6 0
Week 6 12 March 2018 7 11 0
Week 7 19 March 2018 4 6 0
Week 8 26 March 2018 2 3 0
Week 9 2 April 2018 2 3 0
Week 10 9 April 2018 5 8 0
Week 11 16 April 2018 16 25 0
Week 12 23 April 2018 7 11 0
Week 13 30 April 2018 9 14 0
TOTAL 63 1
* Elector registered for a postal vote (see paragraph 5.10).

Page 166



5.14 The applications were received from electors across the Borough.  A breakdown of the 
ward issue numbers is set out below:

5.15 It can be seen that as LECs were issued from February, electors were prompted from the 
elections leaflet issued to arrange their ID.  The increase in issue around 16 April can be 
attributed to the success of the promotional work carried out with The York Road Project.  

5.16 As result of the publicity for the elections/local elector cards, the Officers were invited to 
The York Road Project to discuss the elections and electoral registration with service 
users.  On 13 March there was a group discussion with the ESM and Communications 
Officer, about the elections and how to register, and on 10 April, the ESM returned to the 
York Road project and successfully registered 10 new electors, most of whom used the 
Declaration of Local Connection mechanism.  These electors also applied for and were 
issued with LECs.

5.17 The Manager at The York Road Project has subsequently advised that these electors will 
be able to use their LEC as proof of ID, which means that previous barriers for applying for 
bank accounts and applying for benefits can be overcome.  This was an unexpected but 
beneficial outcome of the Local Elector Cards, to help vulnerable people in the Borough.

6.0 Media Strategy and Public Engagement

6.1 Officers from the Marketing Communications team and Electoral Services worked closely 
with the Cabinet Office Communications Team to develop the media strategy and 
communications plan for the ID pilot.  Whilst some elements were consistent across all 
areas taking part in the pilot, each strategy was tailored to meet local requirements.

6.2 The Cabinet Office Communications Team led on the branding for the pilots and provided 
basic artwork formats including posters, flyers and digital material.  A bespoke suite of 
promotional materials including badges, pens, flags, business cards and ambient media, 
was developed by WBC for local use.

6.3 To ensure the ID pilot was successful, the media strategy and communications plan 
focussed on three main goals:

1. Notify electors that it was necessary to bring photographic ID to the polling station on 3 
May and reinforce the message to ensure universal recall.

2. Inform electors of approved forms of photo ID that could be taken to the polling station.

LECs IssuedWard
No. %

Byfleet and West Byfleet 4 6.35
Canalside 13 20.63
Goldsworth Park 5 7.94
Heathlands 7 11.11
Hoe Valley 6 9.52
Horsell 2 3.17
Knaphill 8 12.70
Mount Hermon 11 17.46
Pyrford 2 3.17
St John's 5 7.94
Total 63

Page 167



3. Promote the Local Elector Card as an alternative option if the voter had no suitable 
photographic ID.

6.4 The wording of the materials focussed on ‘Live in Woking Borough?’, to emphasise that 
every Ward within Woking Borough would be included in the pilot but electors in other 
Boroughs would not be affected.

6.5 The EIA was used to inform the objectives for the media strategy and communications 
plan, to ensure the messages could be adapted to meet the requirements of identified 
target groups.  

6.6 A comprehensive report on how the awareness campaign met objectives and supported 
the EIA is set out at Appendix B, written by the Lead Marketing Communications Officer 
working on the project. The report also includes the metrics reported to the Cabinet Office 
and a brief overview of the post-election campaign survey.

6.7 Set out below are details of key elements of the campaign to promote the ID pilot.

Elections Leaflet

6.8 The Elections Leaflet has been used for over 10 years, and is a useful way to 
communicate information about the elections to electors.  Whilst in previous years, this 
has been combined with a Household Notification Letter, the leaflet was sent to each 
registered elector in February 2018, as the first formal Borough-wide promotion of the ID 
requirements.  

6.9 In addition to general information about the election (e.g. key dates for the election, the 
role of Woking Borough Council, who is eligible to vote, how to vote and electoral 
offences), specific information relating the pilot was included:

 What ID is required

 How to apply for a local elector card

 ID pilot contact details (new electorcard@Woking.gov.uk email address)

Roadshows

6.10 Five roadshows were held across the Borough in March and April.  Officers gave out 
leaflets and spoke to electors at three Supermarkets (Goldsworth Park Waitrose, 
Morrisons on Goldsworth Road, Sainsbury’s in Brookwood), as well has having a stand in 
Woking Town Centre and in Woking Park.

6.11 These roadshows gave electors the opportunity to ask questions about the pilot. 
Additionally, new electors were identified, who were able to register to vote at the stand.  
Where electors did not have any forms of ID, Local elector card application forms were 
handed out, and seven electors were photographed for their LEC photo, which was 
subsequently sent to the elector for witnessing.

6.12 Officers attended the Shah Jahan Mosque on two separate Friday lunchtimes to pass on 
information to attendees after prayers.  

6.13 Officers attended Woking College and St John the Baptist Sixth Form to promote the pilot 
among students and staff.

Page 168

mailto:electorcard@woking.gov.uk


6.14 Officers attended Woking Station to handout cards a week before polling day, promoting 
the pilot to commuters and other train users.

Electoral Registration Communications

6.15 Information about the pilot was included on all registration confirmation letters.  This would 
ensure anyone registering after the initial leaflet mail-out, and prior to the poll cards being 
issued, would get the information individually.  This would also increase the time available 
for the elector to arrange their ID for polling day.

Digital roadshow

6.16 Officers worked with an external company to produce a 30 second animation which was 
shown in the Peacocks centre, as part of a digital roadshow in the week of 13 March 
2018. This digital presence was supported by a representative from the external company 
manning the stand on behalf of the Council to hand materials to passers-by, collect data 
and note individual enquiries, or requests to register or receive a LEC.  

Final Household Letter 

6.17 In the final two weeks before the election, a final reminder was sent to all households with 
registered electors, to reiterate the requirements for ID. 

6.18 The letter highlighted that the ID could have expired, or for a previous address (in the case 
of driving licences), but that the photo had to be a current likeness. The letter also 
reminded electors that postal voters were not affected by the pilot. 

Station Ticket Barriers

6.19 Campaign materials were posted on the ticket barriers going into Woking station on both 
sides of the station, to promote the campaign.

Social Media

6.20 Advertising via social media raised awareness and gave Officers the opportunity to 
answer elector questions in a forum-style discussion, or debunk myths and misinformation 
when it arose.

7.0 Public Response

7.1 As shown in the comments reported on social media, there was a variety of opinions from 
residents about the pilot.  The comments posted on the Council’s social media accounts 
have been set out as part of Appendix B.  A copy of the queries received directly by 
Electoral Services is set out at Appendix C.  Feedback from electors at the roadshows 
around the Borough was overwhelmingly positive, with electors aware they needed to 
bring ID.  

7.2 Additionally, the Returning Officer responded to an enquiry from the Shadow Minister for 
Voter Engagement and Youth Affairs regarding the plans in place to ensure electors 
would be able to vote.  At a national level there were public criticisms of the pilot from 
national bodies which made assertions about the pilots, without obtaining details of work 
being carried out locally.  The Returning Officer responded to these criticisms robustly

Page 169



8.0 Election Staff 

8.1 Four DROs were appointed with full powers whose main roles were to adjudicate on 
returned postal vote statements, inspect polling stations and oversee individual count 
teams.  Additionally, the Electoral Services Manager was appointed a DRO specifically for 
the nomination process and the Democratic Services Manager was appointed a DRO for 
the postal vote opening process and the count.

8.2 The election was managed by the Electoral Services Manager (ESM), with support from 
two Electoral Services Officers and two Electoral Services Assistants.  An additional 
Electoral Services Assistant was employed in January 2018 on a fixed term contract to 
support the additional work generated from the pilot.  This provided extra resilience in the 
team and ensured other officers could focus on the requirements of the pilot, in addition to 
the ‘business as usual’ work for the election.

8.3 The issue and opening of postal votes was managed by the Democratic Services 
Manager, supported by the Democratic Services team.

8.4 In planning the staffing levels for the polling stations, in discussion with the Returning 
Officer, it was agreed that in principal staffing levels at polling stations would be kept the 
same as in previous years.  Already there were several polling stations with three poll 
clerks, and to add, particularly at a local election, more may have been unwieldly to 
manage.  After analysing elector numbers from previous elections, it was agreed that an 
extra poll clerk would be appointed in six polling stations.  However, this would be 
reviewed if ID were required for a parliamentary election.

8.5 With the possibility for checking ID in private, 42 of the 43 polling station teams were 
mixed, to ensure that a female member of staff was available for checks if required.  One 
polling station, Sutton Green Village Hall, was not a mixed team.  A risk assessment was 
carried out that the size of the electorate did not warrant a second poll clerk and that 
additional staff could reach the polling station quickly if required.

8.6 Staff were notified that, when accepting an offer of employment to work in a polling station 
they were consenting to work during the hours of poll without a rest break and in excess of 
the maximum working hours provided by the Working Time Directive.

8.7 The Electoral Commission provided questionnaires for all polling station staff to complete 
after 7pm on polling day, to contribute to the evaluation of the pilot.

9.0 Staff Training

9.1 All polling station staff were required to attend a two hour training session to cover the 
requirements for polling day. The training sessions were split into two one-hour long 
sessions.  All staff were trained together, rather than the historic split between Presiding 
Officers and Poll Clerks.  Training all staff together ensured that there would be extra 
resilience in the teams, particularly if a Poll Clerk had to take on Presiding Officer duties 
unexpectedly.

Page 170



9.2 A breakdown of the session topics is set out below:

Session 1 – Electoral Services Manager Session 2 – Electoral Services Officer

 Pre-election day checks 
 Setting up the polling station (with 

reference to set up and use of private ID 
checking area; posters (with examples))

 Who can attend the polling station
 Accessibility
 Special Voting Procedures – proxy voters, 

assisted electors, spoilt ballot papers
 Documentation
 Who is eligible to vote?
 Marking the CNL
 Issuing the Ballot Papers
 Postal Votes
 Close of Poll Arrangements

 Elector journey in the polling station
 What ID is going to be accepted 

(examples of the different types; 
requirement for original document; 
expired/out of date ID) 

 Checking the ID (face value, in 
private on request)

 How to record the ID on the register 
 ID scenarios/exceptions queries

9.3 Training sessions were held on 13, 15, 19 and 21 March and 16 April 2018.  Training 
sessions were mandatory and all staff working in the polling station had to attend one of 
the sessions.

9.4 All staff were issued with a handbook for the elections.  This was amended from the 
Electoral Commission handbook usually issued for elections.  Unfortunately there were 
some delays circulating the final copy of the handbook, as the EC were unable to amend 
the handbook for each pilot area.  Officers amended the handbook locally, to take account 
of the pilot requirements and circulated this to all polling station staff.  

9.5 A final briefing was held on Monday, 30 April 2018.  The ESM repeated the key messages 
for election day, and the Returning Officer emphasised the need for consistency on polling 
day: checking all electors for ID, being reasonable in their approach to electors and 
accurately marking the data collection form.

9.6 Count supervisors attended a briefing session on Monday, 24 April 2018.  The ESM 
explained verification and count procedures to be followed.  

9.7 Feedback from polling station staff, both from the Electoral Commission paper survey 
completed by polling station teams on polling day, and the post election survey for 
Electoral Services, and provided valuable feedback for future training sessions if a further 
pilot is carried out.  Using the experiences from 2018, training for any future pilot will be 
able to draw on tangible examples to assist staff.  

9.8 Overall, staff reported that the training that they received regarding the ID requirements 
and the process to be followed in the polling station was good and prepared them for 
polling day. 

9.9 Staff reported that they would have preferred more examples of the types of ID and forms 
of ID being accepted as well as role play scenarios for possible queries.  It was also noted 
that staff would have preferred as well as greater certainty on the processes to follow in 
the cases of discrepancies with ID.  The training materials will be reviewed and 
incorporated into any future pilot planning.

Page 171



10.0 Engagement with Surrey Police

10.1 Officers worked closely with Surrey Police in the lead up to the election to ensure the 
necessary support was available in the lead up to the election and specifically on polling 
day itself.  

10.2 The work with Surrey Police had two components; working with the Single Point of 
Contact (SPOC) in the Economic Crime Unit if any allegations of electoral fraud were 
received and working with the Neighbourhood Team to respond to local issues on polling 
day.  A specific concern relating to the pilot was the greater risk of disorder at polling 
stations being caused by electors who disagreed with the pilot.  

10.3 There was very positive engagement with the Neighbourhood Team and the SPOC team, 
Arrangements were in place on polling day which ensured Presiding Officers had direct 
numbers to the Neighbourhood Team in case of issues at the polling stations.  This was in 
addition to the usual visits throughout the Borough by Officers and PCSOs.

11.0 Nominations and Candidates

Candidates and Agents’ Briefing

11.1 The briefing for Candidates and Agents was given by the Returning Officer and the 
Electoral Services Manager on Monday, 12 March 2018.  All candidates, agents and 
campaigners were invited to the briefing, and the briefing was very well attended. 

11.2 The Borough Inspector, a representative for the Surrey Police Single Point of Contact 
(SPOC) for Electoral Fraud and a Sergeant from the Woking Neighbourhood Team also 
attended the briefing. 

11.3 The presentation outlined:

ID pilot  the ID required in polling stations
 how to get a Local Elector Card
 the process to be followed in the polling station
 how candidates and their supporters can help

Election Preparations  the election timetable
 the nomination process
 the conduct expected of candidates and supporters, 

including the Memorandum of Understanding
 electoral offences
 electoral expenses

Examples of the publicity materials as well as Local Elector Card application forms were 
available at the briefing.

Nominations

11.4 The deadline for nominations for the elections was 4pm on Friday, 4 April 2018.  All 
nominations were received before the 4pm deadline, and all were deemed to be valid 
nominations. 

Page 172



Electoral Commission Evaluation

11.5 A link to an online questionnaire was circulated to all agents for distribution to candidates, 
to contribute to the evaluation of the pilot.

Election Expenses

11.6 The deadline for the return of candidates’ expenses was Friday, 8 June 2018.  The 
completed expenses returns have filed with the Returning Officer and will be stored 
securely at the Civic Offices for two years.

11.7 One candidate has not submitted an expenses return and this has been referred to Surrey 
Police.

12.0 Poll Cards

12.1 Poll cards are a key element of the election, to notify electors of the forthcoming election.  
The poll cards for polling station electors and any appointed proxies were amended to 
include all the necessary information relating to the pilot.  At the request of the CO and 
EC, coloured text was included to highlight key messages and the font for the ID 
information was increased.  To accommodate the required wording, the poll cards were 
redrafted in A4 size.  The poll cards for postal voters and proxy postal voters were kept at 
A5 size as they were not affected by the pilot.

12.2 To ensure that these poll cards could be distributed in a cost effective manner, the poll 
cards were folded and enveloped to A5 size.  The covering envelope was printed with ‘DO 
NOT IGNORE THIS ENVELOPE: POLL CARD ENCLOSED’ and also included the Voter 
ID thumbnail logo, to reduce the risk of the envelope being ignored.

12.3 Poll cards were issued to all electors in Woking on 27 March 2018, in order to give 
sufficient time for electors to change their voting arrangements if they so wished.  Maps of 
the polling places were printed on the cards, as in previous years, to assist electors who 
were unfamiliar with their designated polling place.  No problems were reported regarding 
the issue of poll cards.

12.4 Although electors are not required to bring their poll card to the polling station, feedback 
from staff commented that it assisted with locating electors on the larger format register 
when the elector brought their poll card.  If the pilot were run again, consideration could be 
given to amending the wording on the poll card, to make it clear that it would be helpful if 
electors brought the card with them.

13.0 Postal Votes

Issue of Postal Vote Packs

13.1 There was no discernible impact on the number of postal votes issued as a result of the ID 
pilot.  The number of postal votes issued in 2018 was similar to those issued in May 2016 
and exactly the same as in May 2017.

Year No. Of Postal Votes Issued
2016 12,236
2017 13,339
2018 13,339

13.2 The first set of postal votes were issued on Friday, 13 April 2018.  Additional sets of postal 
votes were issued on 19 and 26 April 2018.  These were for electors who registered to 

Page 173



vote on 17 April (registration deadline) and those who applied for a postal vote on 18 April 
(postal vote deadline). 

13.3 Where any postal votes were cancelled by the 18 April, these postal ballot packs were 
removed and destroyed.

13.4 The table below sets out the number of postal votes issued for each ward.

Ward Total
Byfleet and West Byfleet 1,408
Canalside 1,165
Goldsworth Park 1,133
Heathlands 1,543
Hoe Valley 968
Horsell 1,631
Knaphill 1,406
Mount Hermon 1,397
Pyrford 1,575
St John’s 1,229

Total 13,339

13.5 In total, 33 replacement ballot paper packs were issued, in cases where the elector 
advised that they had spoilt their ballot papers, lost their postal ballot papers, or had not 
received them.  In such circumstances, the original postal vote ballot paper was cancelled 
and new postal vote pack issued.

Opening of Postal Votes

13.6 Opening sessions started on Tuesday, 24 April 2018.  The opening sessions were held in 
the Kemp Room at HG Wells Conference and Events Centre, managed by the Democratic 
Services team.  As in previous years, the DROs adjudicated the postal vote scanning.  
Agents were advised in advance of the dates of the opening sessions.  

13.7 In total 11 opening sessions were held.  A full breakdown of the opening sessions is set 
out at Schedule 2.  The final opening session was held from 5.00 pm on the evening of 
the election.  The evening session dealt with those postal votes received in the post on 
the day of the election, those handed in at either the Civic Offices or polling stations and 
those returned by the Post Office through the final sweep.  

13.8 Two collections of postal votes from polling stations were arranged during the election day 
to minimise the number of postal votes to be opened after the close of polls.  The post box 
at the Civic Offices was checked at 10.00 pm and a final ‘sweep’ was undertaken by the 
Royal Mail at their delivery office, which resulted in a further 48 postal votes being 
received.

13.9 The total number of postal votes received on polling day 854.  These postal votes were 
processed and verified by 12.00am.  

Page 174



Postal Votes – Returns Analysis

13.10Set out below is a summary of the returned postal vote envelopes returned.  The overall 
return rate for the Borough was 71.4%.

Ward Total
Byfleet and West Byfleet 948
Canalside 781
Goldsworth Park 792
Heathlands 1,106
Hoe Valley 634
Horsell 1,215
Knaphill 958
Mount Hermon 1019
Pyrford 1,122
St John’s 916
Total 9,491

Initial Verification of Returns

13.11Postal votes are opened and the contents checked prior to the checking of the postal vote 
statement. At this stage, a postal vote can be rejected for the following reasons:

 Ballot Papers Numbers do not match – ballot papers cannot be accepted where the 
number on the ballot paper envelope does not match the number on the postal vote 
statement.

 Ballot Paper Envelope missing.

 Postal Vote Statement was absent.

Page 175



13.12The number of statements rejected at this stage was:

Ward
Total 

Envelopes 
Received

Total Statements 
Rejected/Absent

Total Sent to 
Scanner

Byfleet and West Byfleet 948 27 921
Canalside 781 8 773
Goldsworth Park 792 13 779
Heathlands 1,106 22 1,084
Hoe Valley 634 13 621
Horsell 1,215 22 1,193
Knaphill 958 11 947
Mount Hermon 1019 14 1,005
Pyrford 1,122 22 1,100
St John’s 916 15 901
Borough Total 9,491 167 9,324

Verification of Postal Vote Statements

13.13After the initial checks, postal vote statements are verified, to ensure the signature and 
date of birth provided on the statement matches those on the original postal vote 
application.

13.14The reasons for rejecting a postal vote at this stage are:

 Date of Birth Rejected – either the date of birth has not been entered on the postal 
vote statement, or it does not match the date of birth provided on the postal vote 
application.

 Signature Rejected – either the signature has not been entered on the postal vote 
statement, or it does not match the signature provided on the postal vote application. 

 Signature and Date of Birth Rejected - either the voter did not complete the postal vote 
statement or both the signature and date of birth provided on the postal vote statement 
did not match the signature and date of birth provided on the postal vote application.

Page 176



13.15The table below sets out the rejection rates at the scanner for the postal vote statements:

Ward Valid Rejected Rejected
No. % DOB 

& 
Sig

DOB Sig

Byfleet and West Byfleet 911 10 1.09 3 3 4
Canalside 746 27 3.49 3 7 17
Goldsworth Park 768 11 1.41 0 3 8
Heathlands 1,070 14 1.29 1 5 8
Hoe Valley 607 14 2.25 0 4 10
Horsell 1,180 13 1.09 7 6 0
Knaphill 937 10 1.06 0 5 5
Mount Hermon 997 8 0.80 0 3 5
Pyrford 1,083 17 1.55 4 2 11
St John’s 891 10 1.11 2 2 6
Borough Total 9,190 134 1.44 20 40 74

13.16The overall rejection rate for postal votes was 1.44%.  This is a similar rejection rate for 
2017 which was 1.45%.

Post - Scanning Checks

13.17Following the scanning of the postal vote statements, the contents of the ballot paper 
envelope are checked.  A postal vote can be rejected at this stage for the following 
reasons:

 Ballot Papers Numbers do not match – ballot papers cannot be accepted where the 
number on the ballot paper does not match the number on the ballot paper envelope.

 Ballot Papers were absent  

Page 177



13.18The number of postal votes rejected at this stage is set out below:  

Ward Total accepted 
at the scanner

Rejected at post 
scanning stage

Total Postal 
votes accepted

Byfleet and West Byfleet 911 0 911

Canalside 746 4 742

Goldsworth Park 768 0 768

Heathlands 1,070 0 1,070

Hoe Valley 607 0 607

Horsell 1,180 1 1,179

Knaphill 937 0 937

Mount Hermon 997 0 997

Pyrford 1,083 1 1,082

St John’s 891 3 888

Borough Total 9,190 9 9,181

13.19The overall rejection rates are set out below:

Ward Postal Votes 
Accepted

Ballot Papers 
Rejected

% of Ballot 
Papers rejected

Byfleet and West Byfleet 911 37 3.90

Canalside 742 39 4.99

Goldsworth Park 768 24 3.03

Heathlands 1,070 36 3.25

Hoe Valley 607 27 4.26

Horsell 1,179 36 2.96

Knaphill 937 21 2.19

Mount Hermon 997 22 2.16

Pyrford 1,082 40 3.57

St John’s 888 28 3.06

Borough Total 9,181 310 3.27

13.20The overall rejection rate at 3.27% was lower than in 2017, which was 3.79%

13.21Any errors relating to personal identifiers were recorded at the scanners.  Where electors 
needed to update their identifier, they were contacted following the election.  Any clerical 
errors were also corrected.

Page 178



14.0 Polling Stations

14.1 43 polling stations were used for the elections in 29 venues.  There was one change to 
the normal polling station arrangements, relating to Oaktree Infant School, which is set out 
below.

14.2 All polling equipment, including the privacy screens were delivered prior to polling day and 
Presiding Officers were asked to record any issues that occurred or were reported on 
polling day in a log book.  This included possible errors on the register, visits from Police 
Officers and cases where electors were marked as an absent voter and claimed not to 
have asked for a postal vote.  This information has been analysed and, where 
appropriate, electors have been contacted.

14.3 Additional vinyl signs were provided to all polling stations to be put up out the polling 
stations reminding electors to bring their ID.  Fliers were also available in the polling 
stations to be given to electors who brought the wrong or no ID.  Translations in eight 
languages were also provided: Bengali, Hungarian, Italian, Polish, Portuguese, Romanian, 
Spanish and Urdu.  A large print copy of the details were also available. 

14.4 Polling stations were also issued with a hard copy of the pilot Order, for instances where 
electors queried the validity of the pilot.  Although the CO only issued the signed copy 
from the Minister, and this was also queried as being valid, it has been reported that 
having the Order was helpful for staff.

14.5 From feedback from polling station inspectors, although staff were instructed to ask for ID 
first without checking it, it has been reported that in some instances staff carried out an 
initial check of the ID at this stage before checking the elector details on the register.

St John’s Cornerstone Centre

14.6 There was one incident where elector refused to confirm their name and address.  There 
was a further incident where an elector challenged the validity of the election and caused 
a disturbance at the polling station.  The validity of the signed Order available in the 
polling station was challenged.  A DRO attended polling station as well as an Officer from 
Surrey Police.  The DRO explained the position to the elector, however the elector was 
not able to vote, as they were not registered to vote.

14.7 The prospective elector has been contacted to register to vote, although no registration 
has, to date, been completed.  He has also been sent a copy of the pilot order with the 
official date of implementation included.

The Lightbox 

14.8 Comments were received that staff in the polling station should be wearing ID.

Red Cross

14.9 One query was received as to why taxi/hackney carriage licences were not accepted.  
This issue was reported by the Press Association, with comments from a local Councillor. 
This matter was not raised with the Returning Officer prior to polling day nor on polling day 
itself.

Page 179



Goldsworth Park Guides and Scouts Headquarters 

14.10One incident was recorded with an elector who caused a disruption at the polling station 
when she would not produce ID, and was not issued with a ballot paper.  Police arrived for 
a routine check and following discussions with the elector, the elector left the polling 
station.  

Woking Lawn Tennis and Croquet Club

14.11There was one report of some electors bringing their poll card, mistakenly thinking it was 
their Local Elector Card. Of these, one person was not able to provide one of the valid 
forms of ID.

Horsell Evangelical Church

14.12One incident occurred where an elector demanded to vote without showing the necessary 
ID.  The elector obstructed the ballot box for other electors and refused to move.  The 
elector had a lengthy conversation with the ESM, during which time he also caused an 
obstruction in the polling station and refused to end the call.  The police were called at 
7.50pm, and arrived at 8.05pm.  Officers spoke to the elector and he left the polling 
station.

Trinity Methodist Church

14.13It was reported that an elector showed a rail season ticket photocard, which he had 
obtained using a different name, to demonstrate that this was not a suitable form of ID for 
the pilot.  The elector then produced his real, valid ID to vote legitimately.

The Vyne

14.14One elector requested that it be recorded that it was stressful getting her son’s Local 
Elector Card.

Alpha Road Community Hall 

14.15The Presiding Officer reported an issue with the electoral register shortly after the opening 
of the polling station.  We are aware that one elector and was unable to remain at the 
polling station whilst this issue was resolved due to time pressures and left the polling 
station. However the other affected electors were able to stay and cast their vote as 
normal once the situation had been rectified.

Knaphill Scouts Headquarters

14.16At previous elections, there were reports of congestion on the narrow access road to the 
site.  This year, parking areas were coned off, and no issues were reported. 

Oaktree Infant School

14.17The Headteacher of Oaktree Infant School made representations prior to the election 
regarding the use of the school as a polling station, as Oaktree Infant School is the only 
school that is used as a polling place in the Borough.  Officers investigated the use of 
possible alternative venues within the polling district, but there were no other suitable 
venues that can be used as a polling place and that could accommodate the number of 
electors within the polling district.  

Page 180



14.18At the school’s suggestion, Officers investigated the option of using part of the school on 3 
May, whilst keeping the rest of the school open.  The Headteacher considered that this 
arrangement would be preferable for parents and pupils, rather than the full closure of the 
school.  The school advised Officers that this would be manageable from their point of 
view and arrangements were drawn up to ensure the safeguarding of the pupils at the 
school.  These arrangements were agreed with the Headteacher and enacted on polling 
day. 

14.19Disabled electors had to be escorted through the school by staff to access the polling 
station, and in the interim arrangements there were no spaces for tellers.

14.20Representations regarding the use of the school as a polling station have been made to 
the local MP.  Whilst the arrangements in place were manageable for a local election, 
however could not be sustained for a general election.  Therefore, Officers will be 
prioritising St Johns West in the forthcoming review of polling districts and polling places 
which will be conducted in the autumn.  

Observers

14.21Observers from the Electoral Commission and Cabinet Office attended all polling stations 
in Woking to observe proceedings.  Other accredited observers are also known to have 
visited the polling stations, including academics studying the impact of the pilot.

15.0 ID Provision in the polling stations

15.1 As previously reported, the polling station staff recorded the form of ID provided by 
electors when marking the register.  This information was then separated to form the 
marked registers for the polling station.  

15.2 A full breakdown of the types of ID provided at the polling station is set out at Appendix D.  

Ward Ve
rif

ic
at

io
n 

To
ta

l

R
ef

er
re

d

ID
 P

re
se

nt
ed

 T
ot

al

D
riv

in
g 

Li
ce

nc
e

Pa
ss

po
rt

Su
rr

ey
 S

en
io

r

Se
as

on
 T

ic
ke

t

B
io

m
et

ric
 R

es
id

en
ce

EE
A

 ID
 C

ar
d

Su
rr

ey
 D

is
ab

le
d

Lo
ca

l E
le

ct
or

 C
ar

d

16
-2

5 
R

ai
l C

ar
d

N
or

th
er

n 
Ire

la
nd

Su
rr

ey
 S

tu
de

nt

Byfleet and 
West Byfleet 1,979 2 1,966 1,217 406 316 15 1 6 3 2 0 0 0

Canalside 1,963 0 1,950 1,126 563 160 20 42 29 2 7 1 0 0
Goldsworth 
Park 1,688 4 1,672 949 451 239 12 3 7 7 1 2 1 0

Heathlands 1,790 3 1,784 1,109 455 199 10 3 1 0 5 2 0 0

Hoe Valley 1,631 6 1,628 991 428 159 11 20 8 4 5 2 0 0

Horsell 2,060 7 2,055 1,193 529 284 31 5 6 2 3 2 0 0

Knaphill 1,619 0 1,619 996 327 265 8 2 8 5 7 1 0 0

Mount Hermon 2,027 3 2,023 1,216 577 146 27 31 6 7 7 6 0 0

Pyrford 2,114 1 2,112 1,356 482 246 11 3 8 3 2 1 0 0

St John's 1,929 9 1,926 1,129 466 283 15 1 16 10 4 1 0 1

Total 18,800 35 18,735 11,282 4,684 2,297 160 111 95 43 43 18 1 1

Page 181



15.3 This data was published on 21 May 2018, with a press release from the Returning Officer, 
noting the positive engagement from local electors in the pilot.  This set out at Appendix E.  

15.4 It is clear that photo driving licences and passports were the most popular form of ID used 
in the polling station. It is positive to see that the Senior Bus Pass was a popular ID type, 
with just over 12% of electors opting to use this form of ID.

15.5 Data from Surrey County Council showed that in November 2017, 13,361 Surrey Senior 
and Surrey Senior plus companion bus passes had been issued in the GU21, GU22 and 
KT14 postcodes.  The 2,297 electors who used this bus pass equates to 17.2% of the 
know bus pass users.

15.6 Although 160 people did use their rail season ticket photocard, following feedback from 
electors and also polling station staff, this would not be proposed for future use, due to the 
lack of scrutiny on its issue.

15.7 Unfortunately, there were 65 recording errors in the polling stations on the data collection.  
The need for accuracy will be picked up in future staff training sessions. 

15.8 The details of the electors who provided incorrect ID or no ID is set out below:

Ward Wrong ID - 
Returned 

with 
Correct

No ID - 
Returned 

with 
Correct

Wrong ID  - 
No Return

No ID - No 
Return

Byfleet and West Byfleet 3 3 0 1
Canalside 2 3 3 1
Goldsworth Park 3 0 4 1
Heathlands 1 7 4 6
Hoe Valley 1 2 2 2
Horsell 6 1 3 2
Knaphill 1 2 1 2
Mount Hermon 1 0 3 0
Pyrford 0 1 0 10
St John's 1 0 3 3
Total 19 19 23 28

Ballot Refusal Forms

15.9 Where Presiding Officers were unable to issue a ballot paper, and the elector made it 
clear that they would not be returning with the correct form of ID, the Presiding Officer was 
required to complete a Ballot Refusal Form (BRF).

15.10In total 30 BRFs were completed; BRFs were not completed at 25 polling stations.  A 
breakdown of their completion by ward is set out below with reasons for issue.

Page 182



Ward BRF 
issued

No ID Wrong ID Refuse 
on 

Principle

Other

Byfleet and West Byfleet 2 2 0 0 0
Canalside 4 0 4 0 0
Goldsworth Park 5 1 3 1 0
Heathlands 3 0 2 0 1
Hoe Valley 7 2 4 0 1
Horsell 3 0 2 1 0
Knaphill 0 0 0 0 0
Mount Hermon 3 1 2 0 0
Pyrford 1 0 1 0 0
St John's 5 0 2 3 0

33 6 20 5 2
Electors Returning with 
ID 3
TOTAL BRF 30

15.11The reasons for completing the BRF marked ‘other’ were one elector not being aware of 
the ID requirements and one elector refusing to confirm their name and address on the 
register.

16.0 ID Types Evaluation

16.1 Comments have been received regarding the types of ID included in the pilot, and what 
would be suitable for inclusion for future pilots.

Rail Season Ticket Photocards

16.2 As stated previously, representations have been received regarding the inclusion of rail 
season ticket photocards, as these are relatively easy to obtain without sufficiently 
rigorous checks at application stage.  Feedback was also received that in some instances, 
images on season ticket photocards could be 20 years old, and may not be a true 
likeness.

16.3 One elector visited the Civic Offices with a season ticket photocard which he had applied 
for under the name of his neighbour, to demonstrate the ease in which fraudulent 
photocards could be obtained.  The elector tore up the photocard in the presence of 
Electoral Services staff, and advised that he would be voting using his correct ID.

16.4 Although the season ticket was used by 160 electors, if the scheme were to be used 
again, these would not be proposed to be included.

Alternative ID for inclusion

16.5 To assist disabled electors, if the pilot is run again, Blue Badges would be proposed to be 
included.

16.6 There would also be further discussion regarding other local authority issued photo IDs 
(e.g. taxi licences) and government issued occupational passes (such as MOD ID passes 
and police warrant cards).  

Page 183



16.7 Consideration would also be given to alternative ID for students, such as NUS cards, local 
college ID badges, or other national youth ID schemes.  Advice will be sought from the CO 
and EC on the best forms of ID to include.  

16.8 Representations were also received that the photo ID scheme did not prove that electors 
were resident at the address where they were registered, therefore documents proving 
residence should also be provided at the polling station.  However, the issue of residency 
is dealt with at the registration stage, rather than when voting, therefore was not within the 
scope of the pilot.

17.0 Verification and Count

17.1 All polling station documentation and ballot boxes were returned to HG Wells on 
Thursday, 3 May following the close of polls.  These were stored in the Wells Room 
overnight with additional security guard presence.

17.2 The verification and count was held on Friday, 4 May 2018 at HG Wells Conference and 
Events Centre from 9.30am.  

17.3 There were five count teams consisting of a count supervisor, an assistant count 
supervisor and twenty count assistants.  Three Count teams were located in the Wells 
Room and two teams were located in the Kemp Room. 

17.4 The count in the Wells Room was completed and teams released by 2pm.  However 
following close results, the count in the Kemp Room continued until 2.30pm.  

17.5 During the count, security staff were in place at the entrances to the Wells Room and the 
Kemp Room.  CCTV cameras were installed at HG Wells which covered the document 
sorting area, the counting areas and the entrances to the rooms.  

17.6 Colour coded badges were issued to attendees, to differentiate between levels of security 
access for all those in attendance.  The Candidates and their agents, together with a 
guest, were invited to attend the Count and all Borough Councillors were invited to attend 
as guests of the RO. 

17.7 ‘Elect IT’ was used to manage the count invites and count badges.  This was used to send 
out count invites and badges.  No issues were reported with the delivery of the badges 
and where additional badges were required, generated at the Count.  

17.8 A live television feed to the Griffin Bar from the Count Hall was provided to accommodate 
any individuals not included on the invitation lists.  BBC news coverage was also provided 
in the Griffin Bar.

Storage of Documents

17.9 All documents returned from polling stations and counted ballot papers were sorted into 
crates in the Wells Room and these were sealed and removed to a secure store on 
Friday, 4 May.  

Media Coverage

17.10Representatives of the local press attended the count.  The Marketing Communications 
Manager co-ordinated the press activities before and during the count, to ensure that 

Page 184



there was a smooth supply of information.  The results were made available on the 
website straightaway.

Turnout

17.11The average turnout for the elections was 37.7%  A comparative turnout report for local 
elections is attached as part of Appendix D.

18.0 Costs

18.1 The costs for the pilot have been submitted to the Cabinet Office, which will be covering 
the additional costs incurred.  A breakdown of the costs is set out below:

Staffing Costs

18.2 Six additional poll clerks were employed in polling stations, which had been highlighted as 
potentially having the highest volume of electors.  Additionally, all polling station staff were 
paid an increased fee for training, as they were required to attend more training, and also 
the fee for the day was increased, to reflect the additional responsibilities in the polling 
station.

Role Number Normal fee per 
staff member

(£)

Pilot fee per 
staff member

(£)

Additional 
cost of pilot

(£)
Presiding officer fee 43 199.00 250.00 2,193.00
Poll clerk fee 91 119.00 150.00 2,821.00
Presiding officer  
training

43 40.00 60.00 860.00

Poll clerk training 91 20.00 30.00 910.00
Additional poll clerk: 0.00

Fee 6 n/a 150.00 900.00
Training 6 n/a 30.00 180.00
Travel 6 n/a 7.00 42.00

TOTAL 7,906
Poll Card Costs

18.3 As stated previously, the poll cards for polling station electors were printed on A4 paper, in 
colour, and were enveloped.  Therefore there was additional printing and enveloping costs 
for the poll cards.

Item Number
Additional Costs for Pilot

(£)
Poll card printing 61,488 3,591.00
Poll Card Envelope and Fulfilment 61,488 4,728.00
Poll Card Postage 61,488 7,470.88
TOTAL 15,789.88

Polling Station Equipment Costs

18.4 Two ID card printers were purchased for the generation of the Local Elector Cards.  Two 
were purchased to ensure there was resilience within the card production process.  
Additionally, 35 privacy screens were purchased, to be placed at each polling place, with 
spares if required.

Page 185



Item Number Cost
(£)

Additional cost of pilot
(£)

Privacy Screen 35 48.95 1,713.25
Mirrors 29 1.00 29.00
Vinyl Banners for Outside 
Polling Station

50 1,170.00

TOTAL 2,912.25

Local Elector Card Costs

18.5 The costs below set out the total outlay for equipment to generate the Local Elector Cards.  
Once generated, unless collected in person, the Local Elector Cards were sent to electors 
using Royal Mail Recorded Delivery to the elector.

Item Number Cost
(£)

Additional cost of pilot
(£)

ID Card printers 2 1,260.00  2,520.00
Print cartridges (250 images) 4 168 84.00
PVC Cards (pack of 500) 1 46.80  46.80
Cleaning Kits 2 57.60  57.60
ID Card Design Software 1 Free  0.00
ID Card Postage 57 1.77  100.89
TOTAL 2,809.29

Publicity

18.6 The table below sets out the costs for the publicity for the pilot.  This includes direct 
mailings to electors, as well as generic marketing materials.

Item Description/Content Cost
(£)

Additional 
Cost of Pilot

(£)
Household Leaflet 13,872.41 6015.75

Household Leaflet 
Postage

Leaflet distributed to every 
elector and household with no 
registered electors, to outline 
the details of the election and 
ID pilot in February 2018.  
This leaflet is usually sent to 
every household before each 
election.

25,543.86  11,316.90

Council Tax Flier A5 Flier included in Council 
Tax mailing, March 2018.

 635.04  635.04

Final Household 
Reminder

 4,947.36  4,947.36

Final Household 
Reminder Postage

Letter sent to every 
household with registered 
electors to remind about ID 
pilot in April 2018.  This was 
an additional element of the 
campaign.

23,794.13  23,794.13

Car Park Banner 
Installation

 120.00  120.00

Car Park Banner 

Banner for Car Park in 
Woking

 270.00  270.00

Page 186



Production
Digital Film Production Digital Roadshow in Woking 

Peacocks Shopping Centre 
for a week in March; content 
then available for WBC 
website

 4,188.00  4,188.00

Floor Sticker Artwork  90.00  90.00
Floor Stickers Printing  900.00  900.00
Floor Sticker Installation  856.30  856.30
Floor Sticker Removal

Floor Stickers promoting 
Voter ID for Various locations 
in Wolsey Place and 
Peacocks Shopping Centre

 420.00  420.00
Newspaper Advertising Woking News and Mail, 

Surrey Advertiser content 
promoting ID

3,711.00 3,711.00

Woking Train Station 
Adgates

Adverts placed on automatic 
ticket barriers at Woking 
Station

 3,859.20  3,859.20

Roadside Bus Shelter 
Posters

Adverts place on bus shelters 
around the Borough.

 5,640.00  5,640.00

Round and About' 
Magazine advertising

Locally distributed magazine  1,260.00  1,260.00

Supermarket Advertising Adverts place on bus shelters 
at supermarkets

 1,350.00  1,350.00

Facebook Advertising Reminder to bring ID post, 
video awareness campaign 
and survey distribution

 679.10  679.10

Radio Woking 
Advertising

Reminder to bring ID  270.00  270.00

Artwork Design Artwork Design for additional 
items of publicity

 1,593.00  1,593.00

Translation Costs Translation of key documents 
into 8 languages

 320.00  320.00

Voter ID A3 Posters Polling station posters  110.40  110.40
Voter ID Posters Drive-by board posters  235.34  235.34
Voter ID Posters Promotional materials  195.60  195.60
Voter ID A5 Fliers Promotional materials for 

roadshow, front line staff and 
political parties

466.00 466.00

Voter ID Badges Promotional materials for 
roadshow, front line staff, 
Centres for the Community 
and political parties

 510.00  510.00

Voter ID Business Cards Promotional materials for 
roadshow, front line staff and 
political parties

 352.80 352.80

Voter ID Flags Promotional materials for 
roadshows and front line staff

 660.00 660.00

Voter ID Pens Promotional materials for 
roadshows, front line staff, 
Centres for the Community

 528.00 528.00

Page 187



Voter ID Posters and 
Roll Top Banner (15)

Additional print run of 
promotional materials and roll 
top banners for roadshows, 
Civic Offices, front line staff 
and Centres for the 
Community

1,507.84 1,507.84

Voter ID T-shirts Promotional materials for 
roadshows, Civic Offices and 
Centres for the Community

 400.50 400.50

TOTAL 99,285.88 77,202.26

19.0 Electoral Integrity

19.1 The Returning Officer reviewed the provision of a permanent police presence at the 
polling stations at Maybury and Sheerwater.  Given that no allegations of fraudulent 
behaviour had been reported at these stations at recent elections, the RO decided not to 
employ additional police officers in these areas on the basis that any problems would be 
reported immediately and that this could be reinstated at future elections, if required. 

19.2 One allegation of electoral fraud was reported to the RO relating to treating.  This 
allegation was referred to the SPOC for further investigation.  The SPOC and Returning 
Officer wrote jointly to the agent of the candidate concerned, advising that the matter had 
been noted and that subject to no further allegations being received, no action would be 
taken at that point.

19.3 One instance of a candidate not submitting Electoral Expenses has also been referred to 
Surrey Police.  No further information is available at this point.   

20.0 Going forward

20.1 The Cabinet Office and Electoral Commission have not yet published their formal 
evaluations of the pilots run on 3 May 2018.  The Cabinet Office has indicated, however 
that from the preliminary data from the piloting authorities, it is likely that there will be a 
second round of pilots to be run on 2 May 2019.

20.2 It is therefore proposed that, given the success of the pilot locally on 3 May 2018, Woking 
participate in any pilots run in May 2019.  It is proposed that a similar ID scheme be run 
for the local elections, with some changes to the agreed photographic ID list (including the 
inclusion of the Blue Badge and removal of the Rail Season Ticket photocard) and refining 
the process for the Local Elector Card.

20.3 The results from May 2018 indicate that electors were able to arrange the necessary ID 
for voting in the polling station.  Running the pilot again would provide additional data for 
the Cabinet Office to support a more secure voting process in the polling station.

REPORT ENDS

Page 188



Appendix 2

WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL

NOTES OF A MEETING OF THE ELECTIONS AND ELECTORAL REGISTRATION REVIEW PANEL

HELD ON 5 JULY 2018 IN THE BOARD ROOM - CIVIC OFFICES

Present: Claire Storey, Independent Co-opted Member (Chairman)
Councillor Simon Ashall
Councillor Louise Morales
Councillor Melanie Whitehand

Rosemary McCrum, Liberal Democrat

Peter Bryant
Charlotte Griffiths
Ray Morgan

Absent: Councillor Ann-Marie Barker
Councillor David Bittleston
Councillor John Bond
Councillor M Ilyas Raja
Douglas J Spinks

Actions
1.  Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M I Raja and D 
Bittleston and Lloyd Woodham (Labour)

2.  Voter ID Pilot Review - Draft Council Report 

The Members of the Panel considered the report which detailed the 
work undertaken to develop the Voter ID pilot and the results and 
experiences from polling day.  The Panel’s view was sought prior to the 
report being considered by the Council at its meeting on 26 July 2018.

Charlotte Griffiths provided an overview of the draft report, highlighting 
what worked well and the improvements that could be made for any 
future pilot.  This included reviewing the list of photographic ID 
accepted to include, blue badges for disabled drivers and; considering 
other forms of ID such as citizen cards, military IDs, taxi licences and 
student cards.  In the future, the Officers would also seek to remove the 
rail season ticket photocard as there were concerns about the lack of 
checks made on the applicant’s identity on application. 

Ray noted that he felt the pilot went well and was pleased with the 
turnout. He also believed it would be a good idea to continue with the 
Voter ID and create more use for the Local Elector Card (LEC). 

Councillor Morales, speaking on behalf of Councillor Barker, felt that 
the lack of votes from disenfranchised voters could have had an impact 
on the overall results.  However, the Panel noted that there was no 

Page 189



Actions

2

reliable method to measure who normally voted but had not voted in 
May due to the ID requirements.  

It was also queried whether wards with lower average incomes were 
more adversely affected by the pilot.  Councillor Whitehand noted that 
this was probably not the case, as some areas, such as Sheerwater, 
generally had higher turnout. 

Cllr Morales, expressed concern that there were still groups of electors 
not having the correct ID.  For example women aged between 50-60 
who were not in the targeted day centres or women’s groups, and who 
were working full time and as such would not have the opportunity to 
engage as much as other groups.   Ray informed the Panel that he was 
aware that the engagement at the day centres did not reach out to all 
groups. Officers were aware that additional work could be done if the 
pilot were run again. Ray advised that suggestions for targeting specific 
groups in the community would be welcomed.  These would be taken 
into consideration ahead of the next election if the pilots were run in 
2019 and if the Council agreed to participate. 

Local Elector Card

Cllr Morales raised several concerns about the Local Elector Card 
(LEC). From the feedback she had received, some electors struggled 
with the correct documents that were required for the LEC. She also 
voiced concern for those in temporary accommodation and in low 
income groups, who may not be able to afford a passport, a driving 
licence or the price of a photo for the LEC.  Whilst it was noted that 
electors were able to get a photo taken at the Civic Offices free of 
charge, or that electors could send in photos electronically, some 
electors were not aware of this option.  

Cllr Morales suggested the application process for LECs should be 
reviewed, to make it more user friendly for all electors.  This included 
renaming the attestation form ‘Form A’, and developing an online 
application form, as well as a PDF to download for completion.  Officers 
welcomed these suggestions and Charlotte advised that areas of the 
LEC application process to be reviewed for future pilots had already 
been identified.  Furthermore, she would liaise with IT regarding an 
online local elector card application.

Cllr Morales also expressed concern that Customer Services staff could 
have given incorrect information to electors about the process. 
Charlotte confirmed that staff in Customer Services had received 
training on the process, however, it was agreed that this would be 
strengthened for next year, to reduce the risk of this occurring.  

It was noted that at the Candidates and Agents briefing, the Returning 
Officer had advised that if anyone was aware of any electors who had 
concerns or difficulty with the required ID, to pass the details to the 
Electoral Services team who would be able to assist. Ray requested 
that if Councillors knew of any electors who still had difficulty with the ID 
arrangements, to let him or Electoral Services know, so that 

C Griffiths

Page 190



Actions

3

arrangements for a LEC could be made.  Ray informed the Panel that it 
was intended to still issue LECs to electors if they so requested, to 
enable more electors to have some form of photographic ID.

Councillor Morales suggested that the Council could work with large 
companies who employ local residents, to promote any future pilots.  
The companies could then assist employees with the process, 
paperwork and requirements to obtain a LEC.  Due to the low 
unemployment levels in the Borough, this could capture a large number 
of electors.  Charlotte agreed and would take this forward in the report 
to Council.

Polling Day Arrangements

Prior to the pilot, Officers had discussed with Surrey Police the 
possibility of disruptions at polling stations.  In practice, it was a 
successful day with little disruption at polling stations.  One incident at a 
polling station was caused by a member of the public protesting that 
they should not have to provide photo ID to vote.  This was quickly 
resolved as they were not on the electoral register and therefore could 
not vote anyway.  The correct forms were posted out to enable them to 
sign up to the electoral register.  

The Panel discussed the findings in the Communications evaluation 
report, which noted that above 30% of respondents “disapproved” or 
“strongly disapproved” of the trial, and 20% thought the election 
process with the new ID checks in place went either “badly” or “very 
badly”.  The Chairman suggested that this may not be reflective of the 
Borough as a whole, and that those who felt negatively could be more 
likely to leave feedback.   Charlotte drew attention to the high amount of 
the positive feedback on social media, from the roadshows and 
engagement in supermarkets prior to the vote which included 
constructive comments, however post election the feedback had 
become increasingly negative.  Charlotte advised the Panel that the two 
interviews with BBC Surrey Radio in February and April had been 
positive.  Councillor Whitehand felt that the national media had had a 
negative influence on the public, as national reports had put all the ID 
requirements for the different pilots together, rather than specifying 
what was required in each area.  

It was also noted that several queries were received regarding why the 
pilot was being conducted, as this was not included in the promotional 
materials.  This would be reviewed for any future pilot.    

The Panel noted that there was no impact on postal vote figures, which 
had been a potential risk, where more electors would opt to vote by 
post, rather than in person, with ID, at the polling station.  The number 
of postal votes issued in 2018 was in fact the same as the number 
issued in 2017.    

With regards to the requirement for all parts of the community being 
aware of the requirements for ID, Ray advised that a wide variety of 
marketing methods were utilised in the lead up to the pilot which 

C. Griffiths

Page 191



Actions

4

included leaflets through doors, information on the website, radio 
interviews and community engagement in public locations e.g. 
supermarkets and the town centre, to ensure those without internet 
access were not disenfranchised. However any suggestions would be 
taken into consideration for future pilots.  

Ray advised the Panel that if ID were required at a general election 
then more polling stations would potentially be required.  However it 
was noted that this would only be the case if ID at polling stations was 
introduced nationally; pilots cannot be run at a general election.

Pilot Costs

Charlotte confirmed that the cost claims had been submitted to the 
Cabinet Office on 5th July 2018.  Any additional costs incurred for the 
election relating to the pilot would be met by the Cabinet Office.  The 
main costs had related to the communications campaign, in particular 
Royal Mail costs for mailings to electors and households.  

The Panel thanked Officers for the work carried out for the pilot and for 
the comprehensive report.  With regard to making a recommendation 
for participation in any future pilots, there was a mixed response from 
Panel members.  Some members felt that given the experience of the 
elections in May, the pilots should be continued to provide more 
evidence to fully evaluate the schemes.  Other Panel members felt that 
there could be negative backlash from electors if the Council were to 
participate in another pilot.

It was noted that Council would consider the report at its meeting on 23 
July.

3.  'Could you be a Councillor' Event 2018 

The Members of the Panel noted that the Council would be staging a 
‘Could you be a Councillor’ event for any Members of Public interested 
in standing as a candidate in the 2019 May elections.  Led by 
Councillor Colin Kemp, the Council’s Lead Member for Member 
Learning and Development, the event would cover the practicalities of 
standing as a candidate in a Borough election and the realities of being 
a Councillor.  Existing Councillors would be invited to attend to share 
their experiences. 

The event would be held at the Civic Offices on the morning of 
Saturday, 21 July 2018 and invitations would be sent to local Political 
Groups in due course.  The Members of the Panel were asked to 
promote the event to anyone interested in standing as a candidate in 
the coming year.

Councillor Whitehand offered her assistance at the event.

Page 192



Actions

5

4.  Minutes. 

The minutes of the meeting of the Review Panel held on 25 January 
2018 were received.

5.  Matters Arising from the Last Meeting 

Polling Station Location Review

The Panel noted that concerns had been raised about the use of the 
Oaktree Infant School in the St Johns West polling district at the recent 
election.  Officers advised that a full review of all polling districts and 
polling places would be carried out in October 2018, and alternative 
arrangements would be sought.

6.  Any Other Business 

Councillor Morales asked Charlotte for the number of hits on the LEC 
webpage and if it could be included in the report, which Charlotte 
confirmed and would include.  However the Chairman noted that it may 
not show an accurate figure for those who needed it as others, which 
included herself, viewed the webpage to see what it looked like etc. C Griffiths

7.  Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Review Panel would be held on 23 January 
2019.

The meeting commenced at 7.00 pm
and ended at 8.16 pm

Page 193





Document is Restricted

Page 195

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 197

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 203

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 219

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 241

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.




	Agenda
	7 Recommendations of the Executive and Committees
	8 Statement of Accounts 2017/18
	Statement of Accounts - Appendix 1 - The Accounts
	Statement of Accounts 2017-18 - Appendix 2 - Audit Report
	External Audit Report 2017/18�
	Content
	Important notice
	Summary
	Summary
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Financial statements audit
	Value for money
	Value for money
	Value for money
	Recommendations  
	Recommendations
	Materiality and reporting of audit differences 
	Audit differences
	Audit independence
	Audit quality framework
	Slide Number 26

	Statement of Accounts - Appendix 3 - Management Representation Letter

	9 Voter ID Pilot Review
	Appendix 1 - Voter ID Pilot Review Report 2018
	Appendix 2 - Minutes of the Elections and Electoral Registration Review Panel

	13 Recommendations of the Executive
	14 Victoria Square
	Victoria Square - Appendix 1
	Victoria Square - Appendix 2
	Victoria Square - Appendix 3


